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For Jorge Enrique Arana Cisneros, who passed me this torch, and

For Aidan, Ryder, Max, Grayson, Julian, who carry it now






I know who I am, and what I might be.

—Miguel de Cervantes, Spain, 1605

You mind your own business

And I will not ask you

Any personal questions aside

From how the hell did you get here

—Pedro Pietri, poet, Nuyorican, 2015








AUTHOR’S NOTE

We of No Name


We are not a race, a nation, a state, a language, a culture; we are the simultaneous transcendence of all these things through something so modern, so unknown, that we still have no name.

—José Carlos Mariátegui, Peruvian journalist, 1929



To tell the truth, we have no name. We never did. When we proliferated through these ancient lands in our countless varietals, we were simply tribes of this hemisphere, inheritors of a natural world, progenitors of a breed. We gave ourselves a multitude of names. Thousands of years later, when we were invaded and conquered, first by Spain, then by a battery of occupiers and usurpers, we became colonies to power—united by the boot, the sword, the crown, the cross, and the Spanish language. As time went on and history raveled, we became citizens of nineteen independent republics, admixtures of a crush of skin colors and cultures; we began to call ourselves by the names of our separate nations. Finally, when we found ourselves in the United States of America—some of us finding ourselves here without ever having left our native land—we ceased calling ourselves anything at all. We were amorphous, we were everyone, we were no one, we were invisible. We were chameleons, reflecting every color of man. When asked, we reached for the last turf we had occupied and the last label we had worn: we were Mexicanos, Boricuas, cubanos, colombianos, dominicanos, peruanos. Although we were no longer anything of the kind.

We were Americans long before the founders dreamed of a United States of America. Our ancestors have lived here for more than a half millennium, longer than any immigrant to this hemisphere, and still we come. Indeed, although we arrived long before the pilgrims—and although we account for more than half of the US population growth over the last decade and are projected to lead population growth for the next thirty-five years—it seems as if the rest of the country is perpetually in the act of discovering us. When they do, they give us unfamiliar and puzzling names. President Richard Nixon called us “Hispanics,” hoping to unify us as a political force that could be counted, organized, and influenced. Yet, though we may speak Spanish, only a fraction of us have “Hispanic”—or Spanish—blood in our veins. And, if we do, the blood quantum itself is but a portion of the whole. That said, many of us accept the name Hispanic, and worthy institutions that support us go by that name.

The term Latinos was subsequently imposed on us, although it seemed alien, artificial, an appellation that ancestors in our origin countries would have found odd two hundred years ago, even laughable. It derived from the term Latin America, “América Latine,” a contrivance fashioned by the French of the Napoleonic era (1799–1815), who aimed to colonize Mexico and associate the general region with the southern republics of Europe that speak Romance languages (derived from the Latin language) and distinguish us from the northern origins of the United States. It was a controversial label, smacking of colonialism, but held out, ironically, as an anti-imperialist moniker, specifically against Anglo-Americans. Surprisingly, América Latina or Latinoamérica became widely adopted throughout the Central, South, and Caribbean Americas in the twentieth century, and over time the term Latinos stuck, particularly in the western United States and especially in the mass media.

More recently, activists seeking to render our name gender neutral, out of respect for our LGBTQ members, have devised yet another name for us: Latinx. They have done this, although gender in languages is grammatical, not sociological or sexual, and found in linguistic families throughout the world, from French to Russian to Japanese. When I ask the distinguished LGBTQ activist and writer Cheríe Moraga whether she uses Latinx to refer to herself, she tells me, “I worked too hard for the “a” in Latina to give it up! I refer to myself as Xicana.” Of our accumulated ethnic population, only a third use Hispanic to identify themselves, a mere 14 percent use Latino, and less than 2 percent recognize Latinx. A good number of us choose not to use any identifying term at all. As the prizewinning novelist Junot Díaz tells it: “We have yet to find a name that isn’t enforced by a third party”—by the academy, the government, the fad-mongers, the institutions—“a name that gets us where the people live.”

We are truly Americans of no name. And yet upon arrival in this country—or if we are indigenous and have been here all along, or Mexicans whose lands were stolen from us in America’s “Westward ho!” expansion—we accept the denominations we are given. We will respond when called. For purposes of simplification, this book uses Latino/Latina, Hispanic, or Latinx interchangeably, and yet it will seek to explain our grand diversity that defies any one label.

This book strives to be a sweeping, personal portrait of our cohort in this country. LatinoLand is populated by a vast citizenry—a multitude of classes, races, historical backgrounds, and cultures. Currently, we number sixty-three million, or 19 percent of the United States whole; the US Bureau of the Census predicts that, by 2060, Americans of Hispanic descent will total 111.2 million—almost 30 percent of the people in this country. The great majority of us are American born, speak English as well as any native, are employed, obey the law, work hard. It would take a monumental library to capture the grand totality of who we are. So I begin with a deficit, and I ask my reader’s indulgence, because one book cannot possibly capture the whole.

LatinoLand is meant to address, at least in an impressionistic way, stories that go ignored; lives not often seen. Frequently we are characterized by the famous or the notorious: glamorous Hollywood luminary Eva Longoria, for instance; or incarcerated drug lord Joaquín “El Chapo” Guzmán; or the great, inimitable labor leaders Cesar Chavez and Dolores Huerta; or baseball giant Roberto Clemente. Our libraries are filled with countless admirable works that portray the good and the bad to perfection. In contrast, this book follows an old entreaty by British historian Edward P. Thompson, who sought to rescue ordinary human beings from “the enormous condescension of posterity,” the selective amnesia of history, and the arrogance of the “great man theory.” It is not meant to be a comprehensive work, nor an academic treatise, nor is it intended to lay claim that one canvas can possibly capture the breadth or grandeur of our numbers. We citizens of LatinoLand hail, after all, from twenty-one origin countries; we are sixty-three million on a planet that counts more than a half billion Spanish speakers. It is an impossible task.

Perhaps more aptly described, this book is the result of a lifetime of reflection about where we came from, who we once were, what we’ve become, and what we bring to the United States of America. Many of us identify by the countries from which we emigrated: we are Mexicans, Puerto Ricans, Cubans, Salvadorans, Venezuelans—itinerants from the soil on which our ancestors were born. We only become Latinos, or Hispanics, or Latinx upon arrival, when the US Census asks us to declare; when America stamps us with a name. But whatever the label, it offers a precious unity that Spain, in all its perverse efforts to separate its conquered minions, never did. My own instinct—and that of most of the hundreds of people I interviewed for this book—is to embrace these labels. To get at what it is that unites us. To make the classification truly ours.

And so, this is meant to be a journey through the variegated universe of American Latino identity. I mean to stop at its various stations and point out its humanity, its grand array, its surprising connections, its shared sense of otherness. I am grateful to the scores of individuals from different national and ethnic backgrounds, representing wildly diverse stations—from domestic servants to university presidents, from grape pickers to corporate executives—who participated in this book via generous and candid interviews. To understand the measure of who we are, I have needed to dig down and study the history of our presence in this country. The centuries we have been here. The randomness of our arrivals. The thousands of years of history that our indigenous populations represent.

We may not have a single narrative, but we are united by a number of commonalities: By the fact that we are still considered newcomers, although our ancestors were the first inhabitants of this hemisphere. By being marginalized, virtually unseen, although we are a burgeoning, exuberant population. By being remarkably upwardly mobile, successful, yet trammeled by prejudice and poverty. By cherishing our collective reverence for family, work, and joy—whatever our origin or station. By being a mind-boggling labyrinth of contradictions that is joined by a single tongue. Even if we don’t speak it very well anymore.

The nineteenth-century Venezuelan paladin Simón Bolívar, liberator and founder of six South American republics, dreamed of creating one strong Pan-American nation—a consolidation of all the newly independent, Spanish-speaking countries. His hope was to unify the region, cement the ties, and create a bulwark against a predatory world. He never achieved that vision. The colonies Spain left in its wake were too divided, too infantilized, too suspicious of one another, and too accustomed to reporting to Madrid much as separate spokes connect to the hub of a wheel. The region’s postindependence euphoria quickly spun into chaos, territorial wars, grasping caudillos (warlords), and a rigid caste system, and the divisions only grew. All the same, I’ve come to believe that Bolívar’s dream lives on in us, the United States Latinos—in this largest, fastest growing minority that hasn’t quite realized that it is legion—a cohort that has yet to understand its past, its bonds, its inherent power. Here in LatinoLand, in this wildly diverse population, in our yearning for unity, in our sheer perseverance, lives a vibrant force. A veritable engine of the American future.






PART I ORIGIN STORIES



Origin stories matter. They inform our sense of self, telling us what kind of people we believe we are, what kind of nation we believe we live in. They usually carry, at least, a hope that where we started might hold the key to where we are in the present.

—Annette Gordon-Reed, American historian, 2021








1 ARRIVALS



We are on the bus now / that is all.

—Juan Felipe Herrera, poet, Mexican American, 2015



I can sense the anticipation and frenzy. The unfamiliar bustle of a way station. I have slept through the journey and awaken now to a vast and alien arcade, pulled from my father’s shoulder and set resolutely on my feet. There are lines of bright, eager faces to the left of me, lines to the right. They are shouting to hear one another over the din, shoving their bags across a mud-streaked floor, sweeping the rain from their shoulders. A downpour pummels the hulking machinery in the distance. The buses are gray, glistening, cyclopean, like the boulders that litter the rugged shore of my seaside home. I look around for my mother and see her at a counter, parlaying our transit. She shakes her golden mane emphatically, clutching the papers in her fist. My father stands uncharacteristically apart with the children, taking no role in the negotiation. He is Peruvian, dark skinned, black haired; a lively man rendered suddenly mute in this raucous American ambit. He lights up a cigarette and takes in a long, deep drag. I reach up to grasp his hand. I am six years old.

It was the first of my arrivals. I would not stay long; a more permanent ingress would come years later, when I was nine. But this was Miami before the Cubans. America before the wave. There were a scant four million Latinos and Latinas in the country—barely 2 percent of the overall population. The overwhelming majority were Mexican Americans in the Southwest and West, with roots that had been in place for generations, centuries, preceding the arrival of the Spanish conquistadors or the British colonists. But we were not alone on that Eastern Seaboard. Over the course of the previous fifteen years, three-quarters of a million Puerto Ricans—full-fledged Americans from the US Commonwealth of Puerto Rico—had landed in New York City. They, too, were Spanish-speaking newcomers who claimed roots of their own, quite apart from the Mexican Americans. In the course of my lifetime, that overall population of four million Latinos would soar to more than sixty-three million, from 2 percent to 19 percent, from two major ethnicities to twenty, and Puerto Ricans would be calling Mexicans their brothers. Compadres. Today one in five souls on American soil claims Hispanic heritage, checks the box, joins my tribe: la familia. Whatever mi familia means to any one of us. We are not a unified people. And yet, in so many ways, America makes us so.

The bus station was jarring, riveting, frightening. I had come from the bosom of a warm and insular family in Peru to a clamor of strangers. Only my father, brother, and sister were speaking my native tongue. I had never heard so much chatter in English, a purr I associated with the bedtime hour, when, having me all to herself, my mother would sing to me in her language: Stephen Foster, Robert Burns, George and Ira Gershwin, Gilbert and Sullivan.

She flew toward us now, a triumphant smile on her face. She had been the only American—the only gringa—I had ever known in our tiny village on the faraway coast of Peru. I had heard indigenous Peruvians whisper about pale strangers like her, pishtacos, white ghouls, hungry ghosts who needed the grease of indios to run their gargantuan machines. Mother had been an immigrant to Peru, a casualty of love, following my father home after his two-year sojourn in the United States. For fourteen years, she had been an ill-fitting cog in my staunchly Peruvian family. The Arana-Cisneros clan was a tight, self-contained band of criollos—who claimed to be descendants of Spaniards—that had inhabited the South American continent for more than four hundred years. It had not been an easy migrant crossing for Mother. But the tables were turned now. She was in charge, on her turf. As she came, she waved the fistful of tickets that would take us from Miami to Detroit, and then from there to her parents on Elk Mountain, Wyoming. Her joy was so infectious that my father couldn’t help but grin back. He would not smile often in the months to come.

When la familia arrives in this America, if we haven’t inhabited this land before Christopher Columbus’s time, we step onto a dock or the grit of a tarmac. Or we scoot under fences, swim in the black of night, scud across seas in improvised rubber rafts. For me, all I recall is that bus station on the outskirts of Miami, a site of more than one awakening. I have no memory of the airport or the airplane that carried me there and ushered me to that moment. I had dozed through the winged pageantry of it—the mad, incoming rush of it—the rumble of touchdown, the spectacle my mother had promised to deliver when she stepped from the plane, got on her knees, and kissed that sainted land. “Home of the brave and the free! Cradle of liberty!” she’d say of her country. “You can drink straight from the rivers!”—something she would never let us do in the land we had left behind. “You can lick the pavement if you care to!” But the jittery depot, with its popcorn stink, greasy fumes, steaming hot dogs, and gimcrack souvenirs was all I could see of her United States of America. For five full days until we reached the Rocky Mountains, bus stations and an endless ribbon of gray asphalt between them would be all I could see of my future home. As we made our way across the continent, those bustling halls of itinerants, those nervous nodes of transit, made a deep impression on me. They were harbingers of an American restlessness to come.

My sister, brother, and I followed our parents through that alien wonderland, gawking at gewgaws, jabbering in Spanish happily, until my mother decided that I—being the youngest and most unreliable—should avail myself of the facilities. She pulled me toward a plaque with the words “Public Bathrooms.” Below it, thick black arrows pointed to opposite sides of the hallway. The door on the left said “Whites Only,” the one on the right, “Colored.” Instinctively, remembering the stories about America’s white ghouls, I headed to the right, but my mother’s hand jerked me in the opposite direction. Sitting alone in the stall, I looked down at my legs. They were dark like my father’s: “Café con leche,” he would say with an approving pat of my knee. You’re milk infused, coffee brown. There was no way I was white. I was no pishtaco. But suddenly I wasn’t sure. I had never been made to reckon what color I was. It was the beginning of my American education.



For Latinos like me, the question of skin color has always been a complicated one, crazed by five hundred years of promiscuous history. We are the products of a racial alchemy that began the moment Columbus’s men came ashore and conjugated with indigenous women. The Spanish were already a stew of ethnicities, born of a mingling of Moors and Jews and ancient Christian Iberians. We were manifold from the beginning. When black slaves arrived in the Spanish colonies in the mid-1500s, we mixed with them freely; they became part of our DNA. As major waves of Chinese poured into the continent in the nineteenth century, they joined our bloodline, too. When race-obsessed governments welcomed large-scale European immigration to whiten their populations, we became Italians, Eastern Europeans, Germans, Jews. How can we know what color or ethnicity we really are? How can we be reduced to a common denominator? A multitude of shades defines us. My own DNA tells me I’m every race of man: indigenous, European, Asian, black African. We have been multiracial for more than a half millennium. Simón Bolívar, the Venezuelan-born general and statesman of the early nineteenth century, put it best when he said:


Our people are nothing like Europeans or North Americans; indeed, we are more a mixture of Africa and the Americas than we are children of Europe.… It is impossible to say with any certainty to which human race we belong. Most of our Indians have been annihilated; Spaniards have mixed with Americans and Africans; their children, in turn, have mixed with Indians and Spaniards.… we all differ visibly in the color of our skin. We will require an infinitely firm hand and an infinitely fine tact to manage all the racial divisions in this heterogeneous society.



“An infinitely fine tact.” “La chica parece media chinita”—“the girl looks a little Chinese”—I remember my aunt’s boyfriend smiling and saying whenever he picked me up and set me on his knee. He was curly haired, pecan skinned, and my aunt called him turco. “Turk.” There was a sliding scale in our world, a continuum so rich and broad that a society parsed in black and white—a society so binary as to adhere to a “one-drop rule” and ask that we choose one color or the other, as I was asked to do in that long-ago Miami bus station—seems harsh and alien to us.

It’s not that we’re unfamiliar with the uses of race. Spain’s über-masters of the colonial era tried their hand at a taxonomy of our color. They drew up a chart of possible race admixtures in the Americas and then attempted to administer accordingly. There were sixteen possible combinations, each with its caste name. The first was a New World child born of two Spaniards—a criollo—the luminous ideal. White-on-white children, in Spain’s reckoning, would be the happy few in the Americas, the aristocrats, even though conquistadors were seldom truly “white” and seldom of noble bloodlines. In second place was a child born of a Spaniard and an Indian—resulting in a mestizo—a more preferable blend, to be sure, than a child tainted with both Indian and mulatto blood, which resulted in a Morisco. But the sixteenth category, the very last entry, addressed the issue of a marriage between a man who carried all races—Asian, black, white, and indigenous—and an Indian woman; this was a toma-atrás. A “backslider.” A slip on the wheel of fortune. That was in the 1600s, when crossbreeding was beginning to be so commonplace in the Americas of the southern regions that a vocabulary for it had become necessary.

By then, race mixing was wild, unmanageable—despite Spain’s obsessive attempts to record it—and Spanish America had become an experiment in rampant multiracial breeding, a brand-new world that had no equal on the planet. In truth, it wasn’t difficult for interracial marriages to be approved, despite the feverish codification; all the Church required was proof of Catholic baptism and a pledge of faith. And so mixed marriages were actually facilitated by the Church, and newborns’ races became details to be determined and recorded by the priests. Did she look a little Chinese to the friar? Then she might be a toma-atrás, a “leap-back.” Was she Indian, perhaps? Mulatto? A note would be made of it diligently, alongside the birth date and the parents’ names. By the 1700s, as Dutch, Portuguese, English, and Spanish slave ships undertook the vast and lucrative enterprise of hauling twelve million brutalized Africans to market in the Americas (90 percent of whom—more than eleven million—went to South America, the Caribbean, and Mexico), the Latin American bloodline had become so interbred that no one was counting anymore.

Unraveling the Latino identity is perhaps a bit like trying to piece together the rubble of the Tower of Babel. As the biblical story goes, God, in a moment of fury, smashed the edifice that was being erected by the last dregs of humanity—survivors of the Deluge—because they were speaking a single language. Fractured suddenly into countless cultures and a multitude of tongues, the people dispersed over the face of the earth, unable to understand one another and powerless to communicate.

Projected onto the many diverse nations of Latin America, the story takes on a different twist. The irony is that we all speak the same language. Spanish, in spite of its many dialects, is the very system that unites us. We are a monolingual Tower of Babel, from the fisherman at the southernmost tip of Argentina to the Salvadoran migrant worker in North Dakota. What Spain’s harsh colonial system wrought, in its effort to play God, was a single language from a multitude of indigenous tongues. But it also destroyed any possible sense of unity. Separated by grim colonial strictures that did not allow intra-colonial travel or trade or communication, Latin America became a slew of cultures with distinct national characters. But the looming tower of Spanish still stands, even if our children don’t speak it as well as our ancestors. Even if our grandchildren don’t speak it at all. Spanish is the umbilical that connects us, along with myriad more subtly shared experiences: our fierce sense of family, our tireless work ethic, our rituals of music and dance, our inability to fully exorcise the ghosts of a crushing colonial past.

To me, our story begins with Álvar Núñez Cabeza de Vaca, the first European to reside on this continent and to live with, serve, and understand its native population. There were others who may have touched feet to these shores but sailed away; adventurers who skimmed the coast but never truly walked it. The rich, dapper Juan Ponce de León, for instance, who—looking for more treasures—chanced upon Florida in 1513, named it, then sailed alongside it, hugging the coast until he reached the Bay of Biscayne and the Keys. His first visit was cursory, fleeting; and it included an African conquistador shipmate, very possibly the first black to ever tread this ground. When Ponce de León returned to Florida in 1521 with every intention of establishing a colony, he was felled by a poison-tipped arrow from the deft bow of a Calusa warrior and was carried off to Cuba to die. There was Alonso Álvarez de Pineda, another Spaniard, who circumnavigated the Floridian peninsula, sailed up the Gulf coast and entered the Mississippi waterway in 1519, even as Hernán Cortés was conquering the Aztecs. Spanish slavers, too, very possibly conducted earlier raids along North American coasts—killing, capturing, and being killed—in a frenzied effort to make their fortunes by shackling Indians. In 1524 Giovanni da Verrazzano, the intrepid Italian explorer who sailed for France, famously crawled up the coast from Cape Fear and anchored briefly in the Narrows between Staten Island and Brooklyn. But none of these instances of First Contact was as sustained or meaningful as the bizarre, decade-long American residence of Cabeza de Vaca. I offer it here as the potential dawn of the Latino presence.



THE FIRST WHITE (AND BLACK) INHABITANTS OF AMERICA


All of them are archers, and, since they are so strongly built and naked, from afar they look like giants.

—Álvar Núñez Cabeza de Vaca, Spanish conquistador, 1528



Four hundred and thirty years before that rain-pummeled spring of my arrival in Miami, another traveler made landfall in Florida and marveled at the alien wonderland into which his ship had blown. It was April 12, 1528—the Thursday before Easter Sunday—and, having prevailed against tempests, torrential rains, and a churning sea, he heard a voice call, “Tierra!” looked out, saw land, and thanked God for his deliverance. He was Álvar Núñez Cabeza de Vaca, the royal treasurer of Spain’s Narváez expedition and a veteran of the Spanish conquest. His commander, Pánfilo de Narváez, a slick speculator and fast talker, had persuaded the ambitious young Holy Roman emperor and king of Spain, Charles I, that there were gold-rich empires to be won north of the Aztecs. Indeed, Cortés’s breathtaking conquest of Montezuma II’s empire seven years before had inspired a flurry of gold-hunting expeditions bent on seizing and subjugating ever more civilizations in the New World. Never before had Columbus’s accidental foray into indigenous waters looked so promising.

There were rumors, for instance, of a “White King” and a vast empire of silver somewhere to the south of Hispaniola—the Caribbean island that later was divided into Haiti and the Dominican Republic—where Columbus had established his foothold in the Caribbean. More than one tribe in those island-flecked waters had pointed south to indicate the general direction. Within four years, Francisco Pizarro would sail along the rugged Pacific rim of South America, find that realm, fool and foil its emperor, Atahualpa, and wrest the Inca Empire for Spain. So it had been that another silver-rich territory—as long as the United States is wide—fell into the Holy Roman Emperor’s eager hands.

Other legends beckoned Spaniards in the opposite direction. One in particular told of a glittering chimera somewhere to the north of Mexico known as the Seven Cities of Cíbola. A Franciscan friar, spreading the word of Jesus and wandering beyond the frontiers of his known world, claimed to have stumbled upon that fabled megalopolis. The priest reported that, seen from a faraway promontory—presumably in the hazy shimmer of dawn—the enchanted cities seemed built entirely of gold. Dreams such as these were fueled by a raw metal hunger, and Narváez and Cabeza de Vaca were not immune to them. Indeed, as starry-eyed fortune hunters in a rambunctious age, they had concocted as many fool’s paradises as they had pursued. They were medieval men in a medieval time, with primitive notions about swarthy pygmies who walked on their heads, thought with their feet, and inhabited lands where gold and emeralds grow. Surely God would favor the Christians and make the pagans’ riches theirs. With such illusions and convictions, Narváez, Cabeza de Vaca, and six hundred adventurous souls—women and Africans among them—set sail on five ships from the beaches of Sanlúcar de Barrameda, where the dun-colored waters of Spain’s Guadalquivir River spill into the open sea.

By the time their flotilla arrived off the island of Hispaniola, the ships had been at sea for more than a month in wretched, overcrowded conditions. One hundred forty members deserted the expedition. Narváez and Cabeza de Vaca moved quickly to repopulate and restock the ships, and by October, in the height of hurricane season, they moved on from Hispaniola only to face battering storms and devastating losses at sea. That was only the beginning of their troubles. The crews dropped anchor in Cuba in time to behold a colossal, wildly erratic hurricane rip up the coast at sunset and roar overhead into night. Venturing out the next morning, they found sixty of their men dead, twenty horses lost to the sea, and two ships reduced to flotsam. It seemed God himself was determined to scuttle the expedition.

But Narváez’s charge from the king had been a clear imperative—an adelantamiento, a promise of a lucrative governorship—more compelling, perhaps, than God’s own hand. Narváez was to conquer and govern the land between Cortés’s prized colony in Mexico and the enigmatic territory of La Florida, which the explorer Juan Ponce de León (the conqueror of Puerto Rico) had fleetingly identified and claimed for Spain fifteen years before. There was little known about the vast middle-earth that separated the Aztecs from Florida, only scant information gleaned from slavers who had strayed into the forbidding swamps of Florida during those reckless years. There was, too, another incentive: Narváez’s extreme hatred of Cortés—a rivalry and envy that stretched back many years—and the fear that, given the ravenous scramble of exploits in those early days of colonization, Cortés’s forces might sweep up through northern Mexico and take that middle ground for themselves. It wasn’t out of the question: Cortés had conquered the Aztecs by defying the king’s orders and invading Mexico without an official adelantamiento from the Crown. But Narváez and his lead man, Cabeza de Vaca, were following their charge to the letter: their expedition would cross the Caribbean from east to west—from Cuba to Mexico’s mainland, where the Rio de las Palmas enters the sea, just north of Cortés’s domain. That, and everything between it and Florida, was to be theirs. For Cabeza de Vaca, this was no passing assignment. As the expedition’s royal treasurer and head clerk, he was sworn to defend it with his life.

On that bright spring day of arrival, as the royal treasurer looked out at the tangle of green before him, he could not have known that he was seeing land Ponce de León had seen fifteen years before—the “island” the late conquistador had named La Florida, claimed for Spain, and died trying to settle. The leaders of Cabeza de Vaca’s expedition had assumed they were somewhere in Mexico and had sailed the nine hundred miles it took to reach it. The timing of their arrival certainly suggested they were correct: it would have taken the flotilla that number of weeks to travel that length of sea. But these were men who had never sailed those waters. They had no way of knowing that their frail vessels had been struggling against the gyre of the powerful Gulf Stream. They had been pushed back as much as they had advanced. Blinded by fog and a storm-whipped brume, they had lost all sense of direction. They believed they had pressed west against the winds, but for countless weeks they had been thrust north. They had plied only the mere three hundred miles that separate Cuba from Tampa Bay.

In time, seeing that the sun was setting on sea rather than on land, the leaders understood that they were nowhere near the land of the Aztecs. But there was little else they understood as they skimmed along the mangrove that snarled Florida’s inhospitable coast. Certainly Cabeza de Vaca could not have imagined that he would spend the next nine years making his way over that terrain, or that he would be the first white man to survive America’s hazards and live to tell the tale. His chronicle La relación (1542), describing that mysterious continent and its tribes, stands as an early and unparalleled witness of what, more than three centuries later, would become the United States of America. No work by an English “pilgrim” in those lands can match it. In the course of Cabeza de Vaca’s 2,500-mile journey, he would meet an extraordinary diversity of indigenous peoples, from the Calusa, Muskogee, and Seminoles in the east, to the Apache, Comanche, and Navajo in the west.

Soon after their arrival in Florida, the Spanish adventurers met the chief of the Timicua: the naked, dark-skinned, and strongly built natives they had glimpsed fleetingly along the shore. Heartened by the Indian’s apparent courtesy, the conquistadors ventured on land to learn more. Within weeks, the expedition split, with half of its ranks, including Cabeza de Vaca, traveling overland in search of the Apalachee, a chiefdom that, according to the locals, overflowed with spectacular riches. But the trek seemed endless, menaced by bellicose tribes and a harsh, unyielding landscape. When at last the detachment reached the Apalachee, the fabled empire turned out to be little more than a cluster of villages with ample stores of corn. The Spaniards were grateful to sate their hunger, but the reality was inescapable: Apalachee was no Montezuma’s empire and corn was no substitute for gold. As Narváez’s men ransacked the villages, searching for any redeeming bangle, taking hostages as they went, it must have occurred to them that their futures were now in peril. They had abandoned their ships; they had been conned by false promises. A once mighty expedition had been reduced to a fearful party of strays.

The Spaniards now undertook a disastrous march back to the sea. Desperate, disillusioned, exhausted, they waded through chest-deep waters, endured brutal Indian attacks, and lost shipmates along the way. As time passed and starvation forced them to eat human flesh, their hunt for imagined gold became less urgent than life itself. They were trespassers in a hostile land; nothing was more evident than that. Their ready conquest of Caribbean souls had not prepared them for the more truculent tribes of the North. Chastened, they stumbled their way back to the bay, hoping their ships would be there to meet them. They were not. The flotilla was gone, never to be seen again. All the survivors could do now was kill their horses for sustenance, build crude rafts from surrounding pines, and brave their way on a fickle sea.

In November, seven months after their landing in Tampa Bay, 250 survivors, fewer than half of the original Narváez expedition, set out on five improvised rafts. The majority did not ride out the journey. As winter overtook them, as tempests raged and corpses mounted, the living endured by feeding on the dead. The very argument that Catholic Spain had used to justify its conquest and enslavement of the New World—that Indians were cannibals, abominators, less than human—was suddenly turned on its head. Cannibalism was being practiced by agents of the Christian word.

As desperation grew, Narváez spun into demented denial, refusing to scavenge the land for food, preferring to ride hungry on a perilous sea. Hunting on shore would only invite disease, he claimed, or, worse, spur a murderous ambush. But the few who remained were dog-hungry, increasingly contentious, and they began to rebel. Losing all patience now, Narváez told them it was each man for himself. All rules were over; his orders, meaningless; the expedition, finished. As the clutch of desperados spilled onto land to scavenge for their salvation, Narváez’s raft floated off into the Gulf’s swirling waters and disappeared into the horizon. In the end, Narváez would die, not because of contagion or a well-dispatched spear, but because of a failure of courage. A mad abdication of mission. As fate unfolded, he drifted into the great expanse of the Gulf of Mexico, surrounded by the enormous adelantamiento that might have been his prize.

The few who had gone ashore and found some modicum of nourishment now pushed west on their fragile rafts. But as they rounded the Mississippi Delta, rough waters dashed them against the rocky shoals of what was probably Galveston Island, sundering the logs into a thousand pieces. Only four survived the wreckage: Cabeza de Vaca, two of his cohort, and the black Moroccan slave Estebaníco, who became the first black in recorded history to reside in the continental United States. Naked, covered only by loincloths, and shod with improvised sandals of twine, the four undertook a punishing overland odyssey that would last another eight years. In the course of that harrowing trek, the indigenous would overpower them, enslave them, and put them to work as rank chattel. If they escaped one master, they were soon captured by another. So it was that the castaways were the first Spanish speakers—the first speakers of any European language, for that matter—to inhabit the American continent. Almost a century would pass before the Mayflower landed at Plymouth Rock.

As years went by, the Indians discovered that the four vagrants wandering their lands—the barbudos, as they came to be known, or “bearded ones”—seemed to have surprising shamanic powers. Cabeza de Vaca, especially, proved skilled at healing the sick or wounded. Praying fervently in Spanish, improvising manically, and employing the most rudimentary knowledge of Western medicine, he extracted spearheads from fallen Indians, treated mortal diseases, and—miraculously, it seemed—raised the presumed dead. Cabeza de Vaca’s renown grew, and, as he moved from encampment to encampment, making a hallucinatory pilgrimage across the continental Southwest, he became revered as a miracle worker, welcomed by one tribe after another. In the course of those nine years, Cabeza de Vaca and his three companions would live among dozens of clans, from the Muskogee, Seminole, and Alabama, to the Apache, Comanche, and Navajo. They would live as those Indians lived, dress as they dressed, hunt and eat as they hunted and ate. They would be given rare gifts in exchange for their miracles: emeralds, or amulets of coral and turquoise, or buffalo hides—even six hundred hearts of deer. Saved by an uncanny aptitude for foiling death, the four shipwrecked conquistadors finally crossed the Rio Grande onto land that was being hunted by a vanguard of Spanish slavers.

Sometime in April 1536, while passing through a native village, one of the four Spaniards spied an Indian wearing a necklace hung with a European belt buckle and the iron nail of a horseshoe. When asked where he had found them, the tribesman pointed south and said that a barbudo, a bearded Spaniard like them, had given him the baubles. And there it was. Almost a decade after the expedition had sailed from Spain—after almost nine years of an erratic peregrination that would prefigure America’s restlessness—Cabeza de Vaca understood that he was nearing the destination he had been meant to reach all along. They were clearly on the Mexican mainland, somewhere north of Cortés’s conquest. Filled with expectation now, Cabeza de Vaca, Estebaníco, and eleven braves marched ahead to where the Indian had pointed until, one morning, in the far distance, they spied a posse of Spanish slavers on horseback. Even at that remove, the business at hand was unmistakable: a line of chained Indians shuffled alongside the horses, steel collars around their necks; their women and children were bound fast with ropes.

From the perspective of the distant conquistadors on horseback, the thirteen strangers approaching must have seemed like typical Indians—bronzed, naked, strongly built, armed with bows and arrows. Except that they were walking unafraid toward the slavers. As they drew closer, the men on horseback could see that one of them had black skin; another, a knotted beard that hung to his chest. When Cabeza de Vaca addressed them in Spanish, they were momentarily confused.




NATIVE BORN


And when Columbus discovered America, where were we?

—Ignacio Ek, Mexican farmer, 1970



Cabeza de Vaca may have been the first European to truly inhabit the American landscape and tell of his adventures, just as Estebaníco was the first Black African known to roam that ground, yet these are but two in a long string of migrations that have defined this country. If the United States is a nation of immigrants, as the old chestnut claims, it has been so for thousands of years.

Contrary to what contemporary textbooks teach us, the American origin story does not begin with white Protestant settlers—“saints,” as they liked to call themselves—who arrived in Jamestown or Plymouth Rock for the betterment of all. Indeed, they forced out the natives, established a white-male-dominant culture and government, and began a lucrative commerce of African slaves. Nor does it begin with the Genovese mercenary Christopher Columbus, who, finding fewer treasures than he’d promised his Spanish queen, captured and abducted thousands of Caribbean Indians, sold them into bondage wherever he could, and began a slave trade that eventually displaced five million indigenous souls. History hardly exists before Columbus in the American mind, and the 128 years that separate Columbus from the pilgrims don’t seem to exist at all. As absent as this larger narrative is from US schoolbooks—as erased as it is from our collective memory—the American story begins with an indigenous past. And that past may be fragile elsewhere, but it is still vibrantly alive in Latino neighborhoods today.

If Latinos are the largest minority in the United States of America—close to 20 percent and growing—they are also the largest population that can claim an indigenous heritage. Ironically, according to US Census Bureau statistics, in 1990 almost ten million American Latinos identified as mestizo or indigenous; thirty years later, in 2020, that number soared to more than forty-five million. It wasn’t that Latino indigeneity (or its half brother, mestizaje) had grown exponentially in the course of three decades, it was just a matter of claiming it: a matter of owning one’s ancestors. For a multitude of reasons, largely imposed and political, our indigenous roots are still not fully counted. No one calls us Native Americans, for we do not belong to tribes (as indigeneity in the North requires) and only a tiny percentage of our ranks checks that box on the census, but if our DNA tells us anything, it is an ancestry many of us can claim. The exuberant diversity of tribes that Cabeza de Vaca encountered on his trek from Tampa Bay to Mexico City is certainly part of our larger, more ancient clan.

So, it should not be surprising that an overwhelmingly large percentage of Latinos in the United States carries the blood of the original peoples of the Americas: the Nahua, Maya, Arawak, Taíno, Caribs, and Quechua, among countless other ethnicities that once thrived in this hemisphere. Much as the first people of North America were killed, reduced, and driven off at the whims of an expansionist government, the first people of Central and South America were similarly obliterated. First, by three hundred years of harsh, racist Spanish colonial rule that annihilated 90 percent of their population and enslaved the rest; and then, if they happened to have ended up in this country, by a predominantly white Anglo culture that has rendered Latino indigeneity invisible. The United States of America was born seeing white; it has now been made to see black. But it doesn’t yet see its brown.

When it comes to the Latino population, brown is a veritable melting pot in itself. From the very start of the conquest, the Spanish mated promiscuously with Indians. Having brought no women to these shores, they appropriated native females at will, conjugating with them freely and creating a new breed of human: the mestizo, the mixed-race child of a conquistador and an Indian. All that Catholic Spain required of its freewheeling, freelancing conquerors was that if and when they married indigenous women—which they rarely did, preferring to take them at will and by force—the prospective bride would be brought to Jesus.

And yet the conquistador himself was a stew of ethnicities; a “mestizo” of a different order. In January 1492, the very year that Columbus would sail toward his fortunes, the Spanish Crown sealed its victory against the Arabs and announced that it would purge Spain of all infidels. With a raging will to Christianize their peninsula, Queen Isabella I and King Ferdinand V offered Jews a choice between Christian conversion, expulsion, or being burned alive in an auto-da-fé. As for the Moors, who by then had occupied the southern province of Granada for eight hundred years, no choice was offered: all Muslims would either be killed or be driven from Spain’s shores once and for all. So it was that the Inquisition kicked into high gear, bringing new bloodlust to an already belligerent nation. But by then, after centuries of intermarriage, the typical Spaniard headed for these latitudes was himself a miscellany of creeds and colors. For all the Catholic queen’s insistence on the old Castilian precept of limpieza de sangre, or “purity of blood,” she would have been hard-pressed to find a Spaniard who didn’t have a strain of Arab, Jewish, or African blood in his veins. “White,” in other words, was a precarious notion to begin with when Spain invaded the New World, much as it is a precarious notion among Latinos today. A US census form becomes a conundrum; an existential exercise. What color are we, anyway?

As more and more Spaniards arrived to settle the Indies in that feral first century of conquest, the mestizo breed multiplied wildly. Much is made of the claim that Spanish colonizers were kinder to the natives than the English would be, and less racist. At least they mixed with them—so the argument goes—lived among them, married them. But that calculus masks a wider, more sinister history. Indian women were rarely married to their Spanish masters; they were abducted, enslaved, raped, abandoned. This was done on such a massive scale that mestizo numbers soared, making “miscegenation” one of the most violent assaults on the native population apart from outright killing. For even as indigenous women were forced to breed with Spaniards, indigenous men were denied the ability to propagate their race.

By 1600, a mere hundred years after Columbus’s arrival, a combination of war, disease, and a failure to multiply had slashed the indigenous population by as much as 90 percent. The vibrant race of sixty million that once inhabited this hemisphere had been reduced to a scant six million. It was a genocide of historic proportion. Contemporary scientists call that period from 1492 to 1620 “the Great Dying,” an eradication so vast that the air’s carbon dioxide levels fell markedly, lowering global temperatures by 0.15 degrees Celsius. Spain didn’t need scientists to tell it that something was drastically awry. Eventually the Spanish Crown, dimly coming to terms with the social consequences of the conquistadors’ rapacity, began to insist that colonizers take their white women with them to “the Indies.” But by then, a mixed-race, Spanish-indigenous population was in the Americas to stay. Bringing white women to the New World would change things, but not in a way that the indigenous could have anticipated. The children of Spanish marriages became a new caste in the colonial firmament: the ruling criollo aristocracy—the ever-tiny, rabidly racist, and self-perpetuating white elite. It would be centuries before the indigenous, the lowest rung of humanity, recovered their original numbers.

Within a century of Columbus’s arrival, then, the mestizo—a new, totally unique breed of humanity—was proliferating throughout the hemisphere. And they, in turn, bred with blacks during the four hundred years of a brisk Atlantic slave trade that brought more than ten million African slaves to Spanish America: a staggering figure, twenty-seven times more than the 388,000 Africans shipped to plantations in the American South. By the nineteenth century, the crossbreeding in Latino origin countries would add Chinese and Japanese infusions, as Asian laborers and merchants began to arrive, seeking New World opportunities. In five hundred years of race mixing, as a consequence, Latin Americans—and we, their US Latino descendants—have come to represent every possible skin color. Nearly two-thirds of us are mixed race. Nowhere else on earth has a people of such ethnic complexity been wrought in such a short span of time. We are, as one philosopher called us, la raza cósmica—the cosmic race. We contain multitudes. And we are, in ourselves, a microcosm of the diverse nation the United States is gradually becoming.

But the indigenous remain at the heart of the Latino story. Even if we are phenotypically white. Even if we hail from the tiny, alabaster-skinned European elite who still reign south of the Rio Grande. If Latin American whites do not carry indigenous (or black, or Asian) blood, it is because their forebears have subjugated it, or disappeared it, or stood idly by in its demise. (As the nineteenth century Cuban poet and liberationist José Martí said famously, “To gaze idly at a crime is to commit it.”) Or, if Latin American nations lack indigenous populations, it is because governments have actively sought to replace the colored races, as Argentina did when it instigated—even institutionalized—white supremacy by calling for large-scale European immigration in a separate article of its 1853 constitution. Or as Chile did in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries by systematically purging its indigenous roots and welcoming immigrants from Switzerland, Germany, England, and Yugoslavia. Or, for that matter, Uruguay, which celebrated its declaration of independence in 1831 with a sweeping genocide that killed all but five hundred of its native people, then spun around, flung open its ports, and vigorously transformed itself into a nation that is now 90 percent white. Every country in this hemisphere bears an indigenous past, even if, in some countries, few natives remain to claim it. As the Mapuche Indians of Chile say, the ghosts live on. There is no washing the indigenous from our hands in the Pan-American experience.

Our arrival on this American land, in the form of its original people, goes back thousands of years. Twenty thousand years, to be precise, according to paleontologists. The first arrivals appeared 180 centuries before the birth of Christ—long before their descendants, the Calusa, Muskogee, Maya, and Nahua greeted the shipwrecked Cabeza de Vaca on his trek from Florida to Mexico City. Our progenitors were Asian by origin, descendants of a great migration, survivors of a freak environmental disaster. They had made their home in Beringia, a remote strip of grassland between Siberia and Alaska. When the Bering Sea rushed overland, flooding their villages, they had no choice but to migrate south. As the waters rose behind them, the Beringians were separated from the rest of humanity for almost twenty thousand years. Spilling into what are now the Americas, these newly indigenous proceeded to be flung far and wide by necessity and a pioneer spirit. It was a teeming, effervescent, highly diversified population, and it multiplied, adapted to terrain, moved ever south, then surged—via war, famine, or conquest—in every direction to become a profusion of cultures with strong tribal identities. Developing their own idiosyncrasies, they have become as different as a tundra Inuit can be from a rainforest Yanomama. But they are essentially ancestral brothers, and the blood ties run deep. These, then, are the original peoples of the Americas, the true discoverers—progenitors of the Latino—who roamed and worked this hemisphere long before its five-hundred-year Europeanization. If twenty thousand years of human history were collapsed into a week, the indigenous Latino has been here the entire time. The conquistadors arrived on this American continent within the last four hours. The English settlers, a mere one hundred minutes ago.




THE ANCIENTS WHO WALK AMONG US


What shall I be called when all that remains of me

is but a memory, upon a rock of a deserted isle?

—Julia de Burgos, Puerto Rican poet, 1943



When ancestors come to call, their voices can be irresistible. At least this was so for Sandra Guzmán when she learned that her origin story reached deeper into the past than a childhood voyage from Puerto Rico to New Jersey might suggest. She was, on the face of things, a young Afro-Boricua—a black Puerto Rican—immigrating with a single mother and four siblings to a struggling, largely immigrant community in Jersey City. But as is often the case among Puerto Ricans, skin color is an elusive gauge, and race is a wild variable. Even within the confines of her immediate family, there were pronounced phenotypical differences.

Sandra’s father, a cane cutter and Korean War veteran who had separated from the family years before, was a descendant of enslaved Africans. Her mother was a strong, copper-skinned woman—a seamstress by occupation—who had packed up her children and sailed to America, determined to find a door out of poverty. Life in Puerto Rico may have been lucrative for American corporations, but it had been calamitous for most Puerto Ricans, and Sandra’s mother was determined to give her children more than the island could offer. Even so, there were aspects of their Caribbean past that she refused to leave behind. Intent on preserving her traditions, she continued to practice the ancient rituals with her family and friends, or alone, beyond the gaze of censorious whites. She would greet mornings with a prayer, praise the ancestors, sing to the plants, bless the children, and celebrate each phase of the moon with a ceremony. These were deep-rooted Boricua customs and she made sure her children valued them.

Sandra and her siblings went their own ways, forging their own identities, trying to make sense of the faces that stared back at them from the mirror. “Color was the elephant in the room,” recounts Sandra, and each seemed to belong to an entirely different ethnicity. Some had a profusion of tightly coiled hair, others soft, wavy curls; some were dark caramel, others creamy white; some had wide, Nubian noses, others, high-bridged Roman. But, although one or two of them could pass for white, all saw themselves as negras or negros and, so, fell in comfortably with other blacks in their Jersey City neighborhood.

Skin color was as defining and political a touchstone under Sandra’s own roof as it was on the streets of Jersey City. To be light skinned was to be more fortunate, more successful, more welcome in the world. And, in the United States of America, as had been made clear every day since their arrival, a white immigrant was more desirable than a dark one. But as Sandra soon began to learn, nothing—not skin, not kinky hair, not being short or tall—would define her so much as Puerto Rico’s colonial history. It was there that ultimately she would find who she was.

Puerto Rico joined the United States as war booty at the close of the Spanish-American War, just before the turn of the twentieth century. American soldiers had fought Spain for the Caribbean and Philippines and won, and Puerto Ricans, including Sandra’s forebears, had been traded to the victors in the bargain. The treaty, signed in Paris in 1898 with no Puerto Ricans in sight, had made the island a US territory, meaning that when Sandra and her family arrived in New Jersey more than seventy-five years later, they weren’t really immigrants at all. Officially, their papers were in order; they could travel the United States freely. But, given the terms of the treaty, they were second-class nationals, both at home and on the mainland. This was nothing new. Puerto Ricans had been provisional citizens for centuries, beginning with Columbus’s claims on the island in 1493, Ponce de León’s settlement in 1508, and almost four hundred more years of unimaginably violent colonial rule, as Spain proceeded to avail itself of the island’s gold, sugar, and tobacco.

That was until Cuba, rising up in a rebel fervor, decided to oust its Spanish masters. Even as the Cubans engaged in a grueling guerrilla war against Spain—even as they began to win hearts and minds in the United States—the US Navy began blockading Havana’s harbor as a means of pressuring Spain to release her colony. When a mine detonated aboard the USS Maine, one of the blockade’s ships, and killed two-thirds of its American crew, the public response in the United States was fierce and unequivocal. Although there was no proof that Spanish forces had planted the mine, newspapers reported otherwise and Americans rushed the streets, placing all blame on Madrid. “Remember the Maine, to hell with Spain!” became their outcry.

Seizing the moment, President William McKinley made a grab for one of the last Spanish strongholds in the Western hemisphere. On April 25, 1898, in the heat of Cuba’s revolution, the United States declared war on Spain. A mighty fleet of eighty-six American ships sailed for the Caribbean, Theodore Roosevelt and his Rough Riders rushed Cuba’s San Juan Hill, and, within weeks, a New York Times columnist suggested: While we’re at it, why don’t we take Puerto Rico? “There can be no question to perplex any reasonable mind about the wisdom of taking possession of the Island of Puerto Rico and keeping it for all time,” he insisted. The rationale was stunningly, blatantly imperialistic: Appropriating the island would provide a strategically placed naval station, a “commanding position between the two continents,” and the geography and people could be forced to serve American economic interests as well. Besides, a labor force that “had never been half utilized under Spanish rule” could be a productive US asset. “There are many blacks, possibly a third of all the people, and much mixed blood, but the population is not ignorant or indolent or in any way degraded,” the editorialist concluded, placing a firm white supremacist seal on his opinion. Two weeks after the article’s publication, eighteen thousand US troops invaded Puerto Rico to claim the island for all time.

Spain, consumed by its colonial revolutions, hardly had a chance against America’s formidable naval power, and the United States quickly emerged victorious, heralding its emergence as a world power. Soon after, US forces occupied Cuba until it could establish its independence and Puerto Rico found itself traded to Washington as spoils, along with Guam and the Philippines. So it was that the archipelago was handed off from loser to victor, from master to master, so that the colony of one empire became the pawn of another. In less than four months, without any ability to determine their own fate, Puerto Ricans went from being provisional Spaniards to being provisional Americans. Less than two decades later, in 1917, although they had advocated passionately for their independence, they woke up one day to discover they had been declared US citizens, not because of their invader’s sudden largesse but because the United States needed soldiers to feed the ravenous maw of World War I and, as President Woodrow Wilson put it, make the world safe for democracy.

Puerto Ricans continue to fight for self-determination, but they have no constitutional rights, no representation in Congress, and cannot vote in presidential elections, although they pay US taxes and are subject to US military service. Many Puerto Ricans, Sandra among them, consider Puerto Rico a sovereign nation that has labored under foreign military occupation for more than five hundred years. There is good reason why. Having been wrung dry of metal, crops, slaves, and soldiers, Boricuas, as they call themselves, have not had the luxury of self-determination since Columbus abducted the first Boricua from Puerto Rican shores. Other nations’ appetites have always defined them.

Indeed, after World War II, Puerto Rico’s governor, craving a stronger relationship with the US government, installed Operation Bootstrap to scrap the island’s ancient agrarian roots, transform its economy to a new industrial model, and attract more mainland businesses to its shores. Sugar plantations were shuttered; factories offering American corporations cheap labor and untaxed profits were opened; whole populations were uprooted, displaced; and, although factory jobs became available for many islanders, just as many found themselves disenfranchised and afloat. La Gran Migración—the Great Migration—was the result: a tidal wave of humanity that, over the course of three decades, from 1950 to 1980, ended up bringing twice as many Puerto Ricans to this country as the total population of Puerto Rico itself. Arriving in the 1970s, at the tail end of that migration, Sandra’s family struggled to adapt to America’s ways and language. Culturally, they were Boricuas; linguistically, they were Spanish speakers; economically, they were impoverished. They were nominal US citizens, but they were as disconnected as any bewildered immigrant from the global south. And yet, to them, America seemed to shimmer with possibility.

The Jersey City to which Sandra came in the 1970s, like its sister city New York at the time, was shimmering with nothing so much as panic. Its municipal systems were in free fall. Despite the welcoming Statue of Liberty and historic port of entry at Ellis Island, there was little to greet an aspiring immigrant family of six. The city teetered on bankruptcy. An oil slick surrounded Lady Liberty. Skyrocketing prices, a petroleum crisis, and rampant unemployment had gutted the economy. The municipality’s police force, like its firefighter crews, had been drastically downsized to make ends meet. Theft, rapes, and murders proliferated. Fires ravaged the tenements. Nature reclaimed construction sites that had been halted when the money ran out; grass grew over the railroad tracks. Populations of color seemed the only asset that was booming in Jersey City. In the course of Sandra’s childhood, Latinos would triple their numbers; blacks would grow by 10 percent. Whites, in turn, terrified by plummeting real estate values, headed for whiter neighborhoods. By the time Sandra was in high school, the city’s Caucasian population had shrunk by half. It hardly mattered. She was a black Latina comfortable among blacks, and beguiled, inexplicably from time to time, by the ancient rituals her mother continued to practice.

It wasn’t until her mother had gone back to live in Puerto Rico and Sandra had left Jersey City, graduated from Rutgers University, and gone on to a highly successful, prize-studded career as a journalist, that she discovered that her mother’s rituals had been conjuring a very different island from the one she had left behind. Sandra was half black—of that she was sure. It was an identity she could see in the mirror; one she could trace to the brutal slave trade that had forced her father’s ancestors across the seas. She knew through her paternal uncle, an elder griot—or oral historian—that she was the great-great-granddaughter of a runaway slave, a woman who had managed to escape the sugar plantation where her race had labored, cut cane, died young. Or, if they were lucky, escaped to maroon villages—runaway slave settlements—in the rainforest. But as Sandra subsequently learned from a geneticist, her mother came from a long line of indigenous people whose dominion over the island predated Columbus’s landing by thousands of years. Which is to say, history had come knocking on her door.

Looking back on it, she was just doing her job. In 2009, Sandra, a features editor for the New York Post, had been assigned to be one of four subjects of a story on ancestry that focused on the genetic makeup of Latinos. A geneticist was engaged to conduct DNA tests and explore the subjects’ roots beyond what they knew to be true. One of the participants had been born in Argentina, another in Cuba, the third in Colombia, and Sandra in Puerto Rico. When the scientist secured and analyzed Sandra’s results, he informed her that her mitochondrial DNA indicated that all her dominant maternal ancestors were ancient, pre-Columbian women specific to the Caribbean. More precisely, they were native to the southwest corner of Boriken, as the island of Puerto Rico was then called. The scientist had not been told that Sandra was born there; he did not know that her maternal great-great-grandparents had claimed to be from that ancient corner of Boriken called Guainía.

He informed her that she was certainly Taíno but that her DNA suggested an even more ancient line—the Igneri, a tribe of traders, artisans, and farmers who, scholars tell us, migrated from the Orinoco River, deep in the heart of Venezuela, to settle in Boriken, more than a thousand miles away. Though the United States does not recognize any native peoples in Puerto Rico, a full 60 percent of contemporary Puerto Ricans have been found to carry genes of civilizations that may have thrived as many as nine thousand years ago. Ironically, because of large-scale migrations like that of the Igneri, the current population may contain more of this ancient DNA than it did in 1491, before Columbus’s arrival and before the genocide unleashed by the conquest. The tribes may be said to be extinct and the political and social structures may be gone, but the genes are not. The bloodlines are not. And families like Sandra’s have never stopped practicing the ancient traditions. Even here, in these United States.

When Sandra called her mother in Puerto Rico to relay the findings, her mother responded that neither she nor Sandra needed any test to tell them who they are. “We are Boricuas de pura cepa”—Puerto Ricans of the purest stock—she told her daughter. Sandra, too, had intuited that history all along, had felt it in her bones. As it turned out, her maternal lineage hailed from the land of the great cacique Aguëybana, the powerful chieftain who had greeted Columbus, welcomed Ponce de León with sumptuous feasts, and then led his people in a war against the Spaniards when their motives became clear. Sandra was the descendant of a proud clan that lived by the lunar cycles, sang to the trees, passed power through matriarchal lines, and planted placentas deep in the earth to tether future generations to the land. They didn’t need blood tests to know these things.

“It was humbling, thrilling, a revelation to hear my mother’s response,” says Sandra. “All my life, I had been under the spell of colonization,” a world wrought by a half millennium of conquest and occupation. “I did not recognize who I was. It was then, as a mature adult, that I saw clearly—and for the first time—what had been in front of me all along: my indigenousness.” Sandra’s ancestors had been citizens of the hemisphere before the conquistadors, before the slavers, before the American invasion and the further humiliation and infantilization of her people. “Colonization robs you of sight, but my DNA test was like being slapped from a deep slumber,” she said. It was an arrival of a very different kind.








2 THE PRICE OF ADMISSION



The question of where we began is the secret heart of our anxiety and anguish.

—Octavio Paz, Mexican poet, 1950



My mother had been an immigrant to Peru. As so many stories of rapt love go, she had fallen under the spell of a lover, traveled across the seas in a warship, and shucked her language, her traditions—everything she knew—to suffer whatever indignities might come her way. Many would follow. There were a multitude of reasons why she was a misfit in Lima’s intensely insular family life, why she felt a captive in that unfamiliar system. To begin, there was history. It was the mid-twentieth century in Peru, and Europe was ablaze in the Second World War, but it might as well have been two hundred years before, when other, older belligerences held sway. The seventeenth-century wars between Britain and Spain had been long, brutal, costly—taught punctiliously in Lima schoolrooms—and two centuries later, in 1945, when my father took my mother home to Peru on an Argentine battleship, the animosities still smoldered. All that could be considered Anglo, including the English language, remained inimical to anyone who counted himself a criollo, a Peruvian-born descendant of Spaniards. As for Peruvian sentiments toward the United States, there was a love-hate dynamic at work: an intense reverence for America’s power and prosperity, and an equally intense indignation against its predatory habits, its strut, its greed. It was clear to many Peruvians that the United States wanted what Spain had once had: The continent’s riches. The fruit of its orchards. Gold.

My grandmother, the proud Peruvian matriarch of a large, united clan, was immediately suspicious of the tall, blonde, blue-eyed American who moved into the rambling family house in the quiet suburbs of Lima. Everything she did seemed wrong: her manner was brash; her dress was too free; her skin too visible; her Spanish, preposterous; her Protestantism, unacceptable; her disregard for the hierarchy, shocking. A casual racism fell into place: the lumbering Yankee my father had married without her consent was an embarrassment. She was scorned at the dinner table, mocked by the kitchen help, ridiculed in the streets, relegated to silence. To an introspective life. To books.

Fifteen years later, after birthing three thoroughly Peruvian children, my mother demanded to go home. My father, deeply in love with his wife, capitulated. Once our long bus trip from Miami to Wyoming was done and the visit to her family was over, my parents returned to Peru and imagined making a new life in New Jersey. As the reasoning went, it was close to New York, where Jorge Arana could continue his career as an engineer and work on Latin American projects for American corporations. Within two years, we had moved to a small apartment in the über-white, tony suburban town of Summit, New Jersey—a bedroom community of New York City—where the public schools were said to be excellent. Apart from us, there seemed to be no Hispanics as far as the eye could see.

Now it was my Peruvian father who struggled to fit in. A spirited, highly intelligent man accustomed to quick-witted banter and a room full of friends and family, he was suddenly alone. At bay. Mute. Joining the lonely crowds as they clambered onto trains, making their way up the American Dream, he commuted to the concrete bristle of Manhattan. There he strained to make his heavily accented English understood, scoured Spanish Harlem for fleeting tastes of home. From our dining room table, he wrote endless letters home in a neatly disciplined hand. We could see the measure of his disquiet: there was the unremitting sting of gringo disrespect; the thinly veiled references to his short stature, his brown skin, his thick accent. There were, too, the more stark undercurrents of bigotry: “Oh, so you work in an office?” “You went to college, did you?” “Peru is a very poor country, isn’t it?” “Do you wear a poncho when you’re there?” Trapped on an endless treadmill that seemed to want nothing from him but work—and a household that demanded larger and larger paychecks—he turned to spending weekends alone in his garage workshop, listening to wistful Peruvian valses on his portable record player: “Todos vuelven a la tierra en que nacieron.” “All return to the land where they were born!” To its inimitable sun. To remembering. To drink.

In both my mother’s and father’s cases, the engine of immigration had been love. For the rest of their lives, they would move on a restless bridge from one country to the other, never quite putting down roots. They hadn’t forsworn governments or abandoned untenable political systems. They hadn’t fled poverty or violence or bedlam. On the contrary: they had sacrificed homelands they both held dear. Nor did they hold the slightest animus for the countries they had adopted. They respected the other’s culture, admired its fundamental character; they simply didn’t feel entirely welcome in it. As a result, I, their bifurcated child, became destined to shuttle between two irreconcilable worlds that I loved beyond expression and that, taken separately, could never truly be called “home.”

That is not the case for immigrants who are dissidents, fugitives from repressive regimes or from governments whose political convulsions put their lives in peril. That was certainly not the case, for instance, for Ralph de la Vega, a Cuban boy from a reasonably well-to-do Havana family who found himself in the fiery crucible of history at the tender age of ten. In the course of his young life, Cuba had become progressively unrecognizable. It all came to a climax on December 31, 1958, when a company of eighty-two raggedy Marxist revolutionaries swept from their strongholds in the Sierra Maestra mountains to take possession of the Cuban capital, where much of Ralph’s family lived. The next day—New Year’s Day, 1959—Fidel Castro’s forces declared a resounding victory and began to dismantle the venal, Mafia-ridden, US-backed military dictatorship of Fulgencio Batista, who had fled the island along with its wealthiest landowners, sugar magnates, and corporate titans. The revolutionaries had promised to decontaminate Batista’s Cuba, “the brothel of the Western hemisphere.” It was, at first, a welcome objective. Many hardworking members of the middle class—like Ralph’s parents—were galvanized, even thrilled at the prospect of ridding Cuba of the corruption that had gripped it for so long. They’d had their fill of Batista: of his flagrant 1952 election coup; of his capricious and arbitrary rule; of the mercenary US interests that had sustained him. Filled with hope, they worked feverishly for the revolutionary underground, trusting that Castro would soon liberate Cuba of its sycophantic predators. When the rebel forces made a triumphant entry into Havana, they rushed down the streets to welcome them.

In truth, Cuba had been one of the most advanced, successful countries in Latin America, though much of it was indeed beholden to American interests. After winning Cuba in the Spanish-American War, the United States had demurred in taking it over completely. According to one historian, the reason was simple enough: the voluble, peremptory Colorado senator commanding the debate didn’t want Cuban sugar competing with his state’s beet sugar crop. The US military proceeded to occupy Cuba until 1902, at which point it ceded control to an independent Cuban government that was subject, at any point, to American override. Indeed, the United States didn’t need to own Cuba outright: within a few decades, it would own 90 percent of its telephone and electric services, half of its railroads, and 40 percent of its enormous sugar business. By 1950, one-quarter of all Cuban wealth was held by American banks. It was, in many respects, a puppet nation.

All this would change overnight. But not the way many Cubans thought it would. At first, Fidel had promised a very different country: “We are fighting for the beautiful ideal of a free, democratic, and just Cuba. We want elections, but with one condition: truly free, democratic, and impartial elections.” Once in power, Castro revealed his new government for what it was: it would be more autocracy than democracy, and it would entail a single party, a secret police, a firm grip on all media and communications, and the end of civil society. With every day, as the machinery of change advanced, the goals became clearer—as did the perceived enemy. “Our hardest fight is against North American monopolies,” trumpeted Che Guevara, El Comandante’s second-in-command, signaling that one of the core objectives of the revolution was to purge Cuba of American ownership. “We’ll take and take,” Castro said, putting a finer point on it, “until not even the nails of their shoes are left.”


DISSIDENTS


Look David. How the last few horses fret. How they bolt at the triumphant shriek of the trumpet. They tell us we must flee. It doesn’t matter where.

—Maria Elena Cruz Varela, Cuban poet and anti-Castro activist, 1953



On January 2, 1959, the second day of his administration, Castro announced that he would nationalize all utilities, distribute all arable land to tenant farmers, share 30 percent of any factory’s profits with its workers, modernize the country’s infrastructure, and begin huge rural housing projects that would alter the face of the Cuban poor. At the time, Ralph’s father was managing a wholesale grocery business that supplied retail shops across the island with fruit and vegetables. It was a profitable enterprise not far from the capital, in the bucolic fields of Artemisa, where the earth was fertile and banana and papaya trees flourished. Ralph had spent much of his young life in that paradise of green, but El Comandante’s New Year’s proclamation was the herald of how profoundly Ralph’s universe would change. Within days, his father lost his business to the revolution’s central offices.

By the second week of Castro’s rule, other correctives—even more troubling to Ralph’s family—went into effect. It became evident that for anyone who had risen too high in Batista’s Cuba, life itself was in peril. Hundreds of Batista’s operatives as well as anyone who could be identified as a counterrevolutionary were herded into fortresses or stadiums and summarily shot by firing squads. Thousands were taken into custody and imprisoned. Priests and nuns were banished. Churches were shuttered. Airplanes were suddenly filled with frightened members of the clergy. Successful businessmen, including Ralph’s father, were persecuted, stripped of all status, hounded, humiliated, and sent to the bottom of the social order. Schools were commandeered, reorganized: some for the better, as student populations were desegregated; some for the worse as a strict system of indoctrination was established. Military barracks were converted into classrooms, signaling the importance of Castro’s reeducation initiative. It was rumored that children would soon be separated from their parents, their legal status reassigned, and then—as wards of the revolutionary state—they would be shunted to faraway camps to be educated in Castro thought. Or perhaps sent to the Soviet Union, where their pre-Castro identities would be erased entirely.

By the time Ralph was nine, those rumors had indeed become law: Raúl Castro, Fidel’s brother, declared that, henceforward, the 26 of July Movement—Cuba’s governing party—would control every concept and idea taught in schools so that young, budding revolutionaries would all think alike. Che Guevara, eager to transform Cuba into a Communist state, emphasized the centrality of that plan and the importance of starting with the children. “We will create the man of the twenty-first century!” he exclaimed. “The fundamental clay of our work is the young.” To his parents’ dismay, Ralph was shuttled off to a rural school to be indoctrinated; he was ordered to report to his teacher any negative comments his mother or father had ever expressed about the government; and, indeed, as rumored, children his age began to be sent to Young Pioneer camps on the shores of the Black Sea. There was no denying it: children had become targets—and agents—of revolutionary change.

News soon reached Ralph’s family that Cuban boys, all of them slated for service in the Revolutionary Armed Forces, would be forbidden from leaving the country once they reached the age of fifteen. In sum, time was short. By 1961, Ralph’s mother and father had begun to plan their escape, although leaving Cuba was no simple matter. Nearly a million and a half had already fled the country in 1959, shortly after Castro had taken up the reins. These were largely the rich, the anti-Communists, the American company workers, the Batista collaborators, the anti-Castro dissidents. But dissidence itself had now taken a surprising turn. Some of the very people who had worked underground against Batista began to have second thoughts about the government they had helped usher in. With Cuba’s new realities hardening by the day, it was clear that Castro’s reforms were leading the country in a radically different direction. The entire infrastructure of Cuban society was being turned on its head. A jolt of panic shot through the country once more, unnerving a large portion of the middle class. Warriors who had fought alongside Castro in the forests of the Sierra Maestra now began fighting against him in the Escambray Mountains. They spoke of “the revolution betrayed.”

The revolutionary government would have none of it. Leaving the country was tantamount to sedition. Only gusanos—worms, maggots, the lowest form of life—would dare. But cash was short, Castro was desperate to raise funds, and, soon, immigration could be had for a price in the new Cuba: anyone wanting to leave would simply sacrifice every material possession, every centimeter of property, every peso he or she owned to the state.

On the morning of Monday, July 1, 1961—two months after the calamitous failure of the CIA-backed Bay of Pigs invasion—Ralph, his parents, and his baby sister made their way to the airport in Havana. Their request to travel had finally been approved; they would fly to Miami. Their home had been duly inspected to ensure that all property had been left behind. The family’s plan seemed to be going smoothly: their documents were official; they had advised relatives of their departure. Indeed, they were escorted to the airport by one of Ralph’s aunts. But as they were waiting to board their flight, a solemn man in uniform approached Ralph’s father. Watching his father’s jaw harden, the boy sensed that something was gravely wrong. There are irregularities, the airport official told him. Your family’s documents are not in order. Except for Ralph’s. “Only the boy can go,” he said.

Ralph’s parents were momentarily flummoxed. How could they possibly let their ten-year-old travel to a foreign country alone? And yet, in their eyes, it was precisely their son who was in the most immediate danger. Ralph’s aunt suddenly remembered that she had an acquaintance in Miami, a young couple who had fled Cuba years before. Placing a call to them from the airport, miraculously, she was able to reach them. They agreed to meet Ralph at Miami Airport and house him until his parents could follow. Boarding the plane with nothing more than a boy’s trinkets in his pocket, Ralph cast one last look back at his family. We’ll come soon! his mother called. Don’t worry! Ralph waved nervously, turned, and walked on. He would not see their faces again for another four years.




FLYING


Mothers of Cuba! Don’t let them take your children! The new law of the Revolutionary Government will be to take them when they turn five… and when they return, they will come back to you as Marxist monsters.

—Radio Swan, CIA broadcast, Cuba, 1960



Ralph de la Vega was not the only child traveling from the Havana airport alone. By the day of his departure, thousands of Cubans had already sent their unaccompanied children to safe havens in the United States. The exodus had begun more than eighteen months earlier, and Ralph’s parents were fully aware of it, although the initiative was highly secret. Operation Pedro Pan (Peter Pan), as it would eventually become known, was the brainchild of James Baker, principal of the Ruston Academy, an American school in Havana, and Monsignor Bryan O. Walsh, an Irish-born priest ordained in Florida. But it was eventually carried out as a cooperative agreement between the US government and Catholic Charities of Miami. Financed largely by Washington, it had the full support of the Eisenhower, Kennedy, and Johnson administrations. Its goal was to organize and conduct a massive evacuation of Cuban youngsters between the ages of four and sixteen, precisely the cohort that Che had identified as the “fundamental clay” of the revolution. Started in December 1960, just as Castro’s reeducation program was cranking into high gear, Pedro Pan managed to fly thousands of unescorted children from Cuba to Miami, and place them in camps, fitted-out airbases, orphanages, and foster homes throughout the United States. Visa waivers for the young were facilitated by the American government, processed by Monsignor Walsh, and distributed to Cuban families with the assistance of the Ruston Academy. Throughout, the shroud of secrecy was sacrosanct; the discipline, rigorously maintained.

Remarkably enough, some of the covert organizers of the operation were not new to this type of work. One had helped resettle one thousand unaccompanied teenagers after forces from the Soviet Union cracked down on young revolutionaries in the 1956 Hungarian Uprising. Another had honed her skills in the brilliantly conceived and executed Kindertransport, the removal of nearly ten thousand Jewish children from Nazi Germany during World War II. Ever present in the organizers’ minds were the vast and thorny issues that accompanied such enterprises: when a similar operation had evacuated four thousand Basque children to England after the Nazi bombing of Guernica, Spain, Britain’s conservative government was none too pleased about the influx of young refugees. But the English public was more sympathetic: they sent a clear message to their government that saving children’s lives was an urgent imperative.

A similar sense of urgency now drove the American mission to save Cuba’s young from falling prey to Communist groupthink or from suffering the consequences of their parents’ sedition. Not only did that mission galvanize a Catholic network that sprang to action in the United States, but also the operation likely became a pet project for Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) personnel focused on Cuba. A gift of sorts. After all, the business of rescuing children offered the CIA a rich source of anti-Castro, anti-Communist propaganda. Who would be unmoved by the sight of a tiny child, surrendered to fortune by loving parents and making her way across a tarmac alone, a note pinned to her chest: “My name is Carmen Gómez. I am five years old. Please be good to me.” It was not the first time in history the plight of children had been put to potent political use.

The operation quickly established a pretext to justify the youngsters’ travel: the children had been accepted to and were enrolled in American schools. At least ostensibly, and for a time, the ruse worked with Cuban officials. However, in October 1962, less than two years into the evacuation, the entire operation was brought to an abrupt halt by the Cuban Missile Crisis. The Americans had confronted Cuba with photographic evidence that the Soviet Union was in the process of deploying an arsenal of nuclear warheads to the island. President John F. Kennedy ordered a naval blockade of Cuba—a clear provocation—and for thirteen harrowing days, the superpowers hovered on the brink of nuclear war. With the White House and the Kremlin going eyeball to eyeball in a hair-raising political and military standoff, all commercial flights out of Cuba were blocked, and Operation Pedro Pan’s “underground railway in the sky” came to a full stop.

But in the interim, Pedro Pan had become the largest recorded mass exodus of child refugees in history, a spectacular rescue operation that brought more than fourteen thousand Cuban children to these shores. In the course of those twenty-two months, the airport in Havana had become accustomed to a prodigious river of schoolchildren flowing through its system. It was probably why the airport official decided that Ralph, who fell precisely into that age group, could board the airplane. Perhaps Ralph’s name had been identified by a Pedro Pan operative. Perhaps a high-level airline executive had waved the boy through. It was not out of the realm of possibility. Indeed, Pan American World Airways agents in Havana had long been assisting the rescue efforts and producing visa waivers for children. Ralph’s family would never know the exact details.

It is a crushing, heartbreaking decision to part with a child as young as ten—much less a child of four—and surrender him to the hazards of fate, but fear was running high among members of the anti-Castro underground, and faith in the United States was strong. Many parents believed the new Cuban government might imprison, even execute them for treason. Others were convinced that any separation from their children would be brief: a few weeks perhaps; a month or two at most. Surely Washington would drive Castro from Cuba; surely President Kennedy—good Catholic that he was—would not allow a Communist regime to thrive a mere ninety miles from American shores. It was just a matter of time. Even the Bay of Pigs fiasco had not succeeded in dashing those hopes; if Americans had tried it once, they would try it again. El Comandante would be deposed, just as President Dwight Eisenhower had deposed Jacobo Arbenz’s Socialist regime in Guatemala in 1954 (for that matter, just as President Lyndon B. Johnson later would topple Juan Bosch’s left-leaning presidency in the Dominican Republic in 1965). Or perhaps the United States would begin a clandestine rescue of the parents, too. Families were bound to be reunited within a short time, and, until then, the little Pedro Pans would be safely ensconced in commodious American homes or schools, their every care abated, their English steadily more fluent, their minds free of Marxist cant.

The stark realities of what became of the Pedro Pan children would emerge gradually as years went by. The more fortunate were met on arrival by family members who had fled to America in the first wave of immigration at the close of the revolution—familiar faces that now awaited them at Miami Airport. Fortune also favored those whose parents joined them a few months later. Others, however, would cry into their pillows night after night, separated from their families for as many as eighteen years. A number would never see their parents again.

The children with no family members to greet them—those who were met at the airport by the Catholic Welfare Bureau—embarked on a roulette of possibilities: shuttled to receiving facilities—mass shelters known as Kendall, Florida City, Matacumbe—some would spend anywhere from months to years in makeshift quarters until a relative could claim them. Others would be flown to foster homes in far corners of the United States. Some flourished happily in those homes for years until their parents could collect them (a few grew so distant from their families that they refused to rejoin them); some were treated like chattel and made to work; some were sexually abused. Many who were sent off to orphanages or homes for delinquent youth emerged with lifelong psychological scars. Mistreatment by sadists, neglect in shoddy institutions, the cruel sting of displacement and abandonment—these figured along the way to varying degrees. In Miami, it was reported that some Cuban children even appeared to have escaped the facilities and were wandering the city streets, begging for handouts and a place to sleep. One thirteen-year-old was bounced from Miami to Costa Rica and then on to the Dominican Republic, eventually graduating from high school in Colombia years later; he did not see his parents again until he was thirty-four.

But the great majority went on to joyful reunions as airplane loads of white, middle- and upper-middle-class Cuban exiles continued to pour into the United States, beneficiaries of a US-government-approved preferential status. The Golden Exile, they called it, and from January 1959, when it began, until October 1962, when it was over, 248,100 Cuban immigrants had flooded into the United States, and the Miami area proceeded to become one of the most prosperous Latino communities in the country. Indeed, the prevailing narrative about the Pedro Pans is that their solo journeys strengthened them, taught them resilience and independence. Many grew up to be driven, successful, outstanding leaders in their fields.

How is it that Castro’s Cuba allowed such an exodus to happen? Why did officials look the other way as a firehose of Cuban children clambered aboard aircrafts day after day, month after month—a veritable brain drain—headed for the United States? Some have conjectured that the flight manifests, a virtual list of Cuba’s dissidents, were a dead giveaway; they made for a handy guide to identify the very population that was active in the anti-Castro underground. Others speculate that Castro, anxious about his cash-poor country, decided that he wanted to be free of agitators as long as they took nothing with them; as long as they left all possessions and currency to the state. Escoria, he called them. Scum. Bourgeois, capitalist worms. The country would be better off without them.

When Ralph stepped off the airplane that sweltering Monday afternoon in July, he looked around anxiously for his aunt’s acquaintance; for some identifying feature. He had only the most rudimentary description: young, Cuban, friendly. We can imagine a small boy’s bafflement in that chaotic airport—the adults clamoring at the gate, the unaccompanied children straining to find a familiar face, the sheer confusion and terror of arrival. A quick, tight fear rose in Ralph’s throat as he reckoned the possibility that no one would be there for him. But Ada and Arnaldo Báez were indeed present. They worked their way to the front, holding a cardboard sign with his name. They were young, fresh faced, a recently married couple in their late twenties. Ada had worked in an Artemisa dress shop with Ralph’s aunt. Arnaldo, active in the anti-Castro underground, had been charged as an enemy of the revolution. Granted asylum in the Venezuelan embassy, he had escaped to Caracas and then made his way to Miami, where he arranged for Ada to join him. She had arrived only months before.

Ralph had expected that his stay with the couple would last only a few days, but weeks went by, then months, until October came, and the Cuban Missile Crisis put a hard stop to the flow of refugees. It was clear that his parents would not be arriving anytime soon, if ever. Ada enrolled him in the local elementary school, where he struggled to get by. There were other jarring cultural adjustments. Overnight, Ralph had been stripped of his family, his friends, his native tongue. Even the food seemed unwelcoming. As Cuban refugees, the cobbled little family were given government-issued tubs of processed lunch meat, blocks of cheddar cheese. It was a far cry from his mother’s table; from the charmed green fields of Artemisa.

To make matters worse, Miami’s overwhelmingly white, English-speaking population did not welcome the newcomers. Cubans were considered loud, pushy, and—worst of all—they spoke in Spanish. Signs in establishments’ windows began to appear, confirming the animus: “No children. No pets. No Cubans.” County officials complained to Congress that the large influx of refugees was ruffling the status quo, “changing the complexion of the city.” According to them, not only had Cubans become a threat to the local balance of power, but also, worse, the day would come when they actually demanded the right to vote. At about this time, a number of newspapers began to report that the growing number of Cuban children had put a severe strain on Miami schools; some noted that a full third of all passengers arriving on Pan American Airways were minors. In short, by 1961, Cubans weren’t wanted in Miami. A campaign was being organized to get the Pedro Pans out of the area, out of state, to wait for their parents elsewhere. It was a tension that even a youngster could sense. But there was something else afoot for Ralph: a plucky, no-nonsense energy that he was beginning to learn from his minders; an attitude that brooked no pessimism; and, most important, a firm refusal to see himself as a victim.

The Báezes lived in a rented room in a multifamily house. They had no money, no apparent prospects, and they spoke no English. But they were as resourceful as they were generous, and they were fierce disciples of the timeworn, rags-to-riches American Dream. In the course of Ralph’s four years in their care, Arnaldo and Ada found work in a furniture factory, learned the trade, and set out to establish a business of their own. Starting with little more than a hammer and a saw, they eventually opened a furniture shop, raised a family, made a good living for themselves. They seemed the very personification of something Ralph’s grandmother had always said to him: let no one place limits on what you can do.

By the time Ralph turned fourteen and his beleaguered parents finally set foot in the United States, he had learned to negotiate the city, the culture, the obstacles. He spoke fluent English. He was able to translate for them, lead them through the tinned meat and cheddar of refugee life, show them the ins and outs of the American way. They didn’t know it then, but they would never go home, never again see the island on which they were born. Not for all the tears they would shed; not for all the Christmases they would welcome with the cry, “Next year in Havana!” This, then, would be the price of admission.

In time, his parents went to work in a shoe factory, while Ralph took his grandmother’s advice to dream big. Almost exactly fifty years later, Ralph’s career would reflect the grace and grit of those early childhood days, when he learned what it meant to press on, keep going. Pushing himself beyond his high school teachers’ expectations, beyond his parents’ ability to pay for higher education, he went on to earn degrees in engineering and management, and finally arrived at the very portals of the American Dream: in 2016 the man who had once been a worried little boy stepping into the hullaballoo of a way station—the Pedro Pan who disembarked without a penny to his name—was made a top executive of one of the most dynamic telecommunications corporations on the planet. He became chief executive officer of Business Solutions and vice chairman of AT&T.




DEVIL’S HIGHWAY


I thought I was done with borders; I didn’t know there would be more to be crossed—cultural borders, language borders, legal borders, gender and career borders…

—Reyna Grande, author, Mexican American, 2021



To this day, Julia Mamani is not entirely sure of the name of the American state into which she crossed. What she does remember is the Mexican coyote—pulling her across the Rio Grande by one foot. What remains in memory, vivid as a fresh scar, is a wet, panicked crawl up a steep escarpment, the pitch black of a starless night, the searchlights suddenly flashing, a deranged sprint across a busy highway, and then the vultures wheeling overhead in the morning. It was her third attempt to cross into the United States. It had taken her three months and $10,000—more time and money than she had ever imagined—to achieve it. It was March 2005, and ten million undocumented immigrants like her had come to live and work north of that river, chasing the American Dream. Unlike most of them, she was not Mexican, nor a refugee from the violence-torn Northern Triangle that spanned Guatemala, El Salvador, and Honduras. She was from a tiny village in Peru, a half hemisphere away.

Julia was but one in a steady stream of fugitives from the Colca Valley, a deep river canyon that splits the Peruvian landscape—a geologic exuberance whose striking beauty and vaulting vistas belie the rank poverty of its inhabitants. The area’s exodus had begun in the 1970s, just as the glaciers began to disappear, water became scarce, and a truculent red wave inspired by Castro’s Revolution consumed much of the South American continent. The Communist promise had played well in that nervous precinct of inequalities. Governments were unstable, economies corrupt to the core; societies, among the most discriminatory in the world. These were countries conceived in conquest and held captive by exploitation, racial divisions, rampant poverty, the degradation of the vast majority, and the entitlement and wealth of a tiny elite. It was at that jittery juncture, as the seventies slipped anxiously into the eighties, that the Maoist-inspired guerrilla group called the Shining Path began slashing its bloody way through rural Peru, murdering the village elders, forcing the young to enlist at knifepoint, vowing to dismantle Peru’s precarious socioeconomic structure and begin the country afresh.

Julia’s people, the citizens of Cabanaconde, a mud-poor pueblo in the heart of the Colca Valley, were hungry, desperate, and terrified. They fled first to Peru’s coastal towns of Majes and Camaná—a mere hundred miles away—hoping to find work, but they found little relief there. They moved on to the historic city of Arequipa, filling the wretched barrios to bursting. They continued to Lima, seeking security in the capital and huddling in newly created “pueblos jovenes”: heartbreaking, disease-ridden ghettos that ring the periphery of that chaotic metropolis. Eventually they began to flee to the United States.

In the 1970s, the first migrants to make the 3,500-mile trip from Cabanaconde to El Otro Lado—the coveted “other side,” as they call the United States—undertook a long, complicated passage through a chain of countries, crossed the rugged US-Mexican border with the aid of coyotes, and, as fate would have it, arrived in the burgeoning suburbs of Maryland, where they were welcomed as landscapers and menial workers. They were an ancient race of Quechua people, indigenous mountainfolk with an inborn respect for the principle of mutual assistance and reciprocity, or ayni: do first for others, and they will do for you. They had no intention to stay, only to make enough money to send home to their families and, perhaps, return to Cabanaconde in better times. Universally undocumented, they worked as kitchen help, construction hands, nannies, house cleaners, janitors, gardeners, day laborers, and—as years went by—they bought homes, paid taxes, birthed American children, and helped one another survive. And they stayed.

If one Cabanacondino—one fellow villager—in this new, growing cluster in the United States became widowed, or ill, or the victim of a crippling accident, the entire group followed the Andean custom of gathering forces to help. They cooked, sewed, or donned their elaborate native dress and danced the Wititi—and peddled those goods and entertainments to raise funds for the afflicted. Attuned to the poverty from which they had come, they wired a steady flow of remittances to their struggling families in the Colca Valley. Their loyalty to their village—and to Pachamama, the Mother Earth, where their umbilical cords lay buried—was so strong and their generosity so large that eventually others were motivated to try their hand at the Dream. A veritable river of Cabanacondinos began to head north, traveling three thousand miles, shunting from airport to airport to reach Mexico. Braving the perils of homicidal border towns, and the bleak, blood-soaked trail the conquistadors named El Camino del Diablo—the Devil’s Highway—they crossed the desert, swam the river, scooted under barbed wire. They poured silently into Arizona, New Mexico, Texas, California, and then pressed eastward, confident that the fellow villagers who had preceded them would receive them as brothers and sisters. By 1984, hundreds of Cabanacondinos had formed a tenuous little colony of largely undocumented immigrants in the bustling Maryland neighborhoods of North Potomac, Silver Spring, and Rockville, serving American families and enterprises in myriad ways. It was then that the community’s leaders decided to incorporate the group as a nonprofit organization. They called themselves Cabanaconde City Colca USA (CCC-USA).

By 2005, when Julia decided to risk the crossing, the Maryland population of Cabanacondinos—which included some of her distant relatives—had burgeoned to well over a thousand, a third of the population of Cabanaconde itself. By then, many of the first arrivals had successful small businesses; their children had graduated from high school, gone to college, maybe even had families of their own. They had formed mutual help groups, organized soccer teams, raised up lawyers, American soldiers, teachers, musicians. If their fellow countrymen had homes to remodel, they remodeled them together. If there were young athletes to coach, fathers banded together and took to the schoolyards. If families couldn’t afford food, other mothers provided. If there were recent arrivals to house, they were welcomed.

In July 2021 CCC-USA bought a picturesque, million-square-foot parcel of land in Poolesville, Maryland. It is an open, grassy field reminiscent of the wide pampas that punctuate the Colca Valley. A stately stand of conifers, poplars, and oaks separates it from the road that leads to town. Here on this land where the Underground Railroad once ushered slaves to freedom, where Civil War soldiers once marched to fight bloody battles to the death, the Cabanacondinos intend to hold their ancestral festivities, honor their faith, raise their youngsters, dance. Highly motivated and culturally minded, the Cabanacondinos have already planted baby pines circling the property—one for each family in their current army of two thousand. They are determined to maintain ties to their beloved corner of the Colca Canyon, even in this exurban American milieu—this mecca of pickup trucks, strip malls, and a predominantly white population. Those fortunate enough to hold green cards or US passports will return to Cabanaconde year after year for the five-day fiesta that honors the Virgin Carmen. Wearing magnificently embroidered capes and highly adorned costumes that signal their newfound status, they will dance the Wititi, the Chukchu, the Chullcho, savoring their rank as prodigal village heroes. When all the drinking and revelry are done, they will fly back to rejoin the American labor force.

In turn, the village of Cabanaconde, enriched by a constant infusion of dollars, is no longer the dusty, destitute pueblo of Julia’s childhood. It has been transformed from a haphazard jumble of stone huts to a tourist destination with three-story hotels, thriving restaurants, round-the-clock wireless services, and English-speaking tour guides. Migrant workers from as far away as Lake Titicaca come there to fill the ranks of workers who have immigrated to the United States. American and European thrill-seekers throng the area in summer months, eager to hike the scenic Colca Valley—an earthly fissure twice as deep as the Grand Canyon—where the Inca built vertiginous terraces and where mighty condors reign. As one Cabanacondino put it, “Imagine! The gringos are swarming our old stomping grounds, and we are now here, in theirs.” For the thousands of members of Cabanaconde City Colca USA, however, the journey to the Dream has been far more arduous than any trekker’s junket to Peru. The great majority, like Julia, marked their American arrival with a terrifying scramble up a thorn-studded riverbank.



Julia’s story begins in the slums of Lima, where she had fled at the age of fifteen to find work and quell poverty’s perpetual hunger. She started as a lowly maid in a house that had posted a promising sign on the front door—“Girl wanted. No education preferable”—but she was scared off by her master’s overt sexual advances. By seventeen, she had become a sweatshop seamstress in Gamarra, the “informal,” lawless district where young women hunch over sewing machines in cramped, airless quarters, fashioning designer knockoffs for a few dollars a day. Making her home in a squalid shantytown on Lima’s rim where a number of Cabanacondinos had gathered, she found herself courted vigorously by her own uncle, also a fugitive from the valley. He was aggressive, insistent, far older; eventually she gave in to his sexual demands. According to Julia, once they were married, and even as she birthed each of their three children, he became progressively more abusive. Jobless, drinking himself into a stupor, he would beat her, filch money from her purse, menace her with a knife.

In desperation, Julia invited her younger sister to come live with them and help fend off his abuses. But as time went by and the maltreatment continued, as she recounts it, she discovered that her husband was paying nightly visits to her sister’s bed. Repelled and humiliated by the compound infidelity, Julia decided to desert the shack, make a clean break of it, join her fellow villagers in the United States. For years, she had heard that her cousin and niece had found work in Cabanaconde City Colca USA; they were living in a high-rise building, enjoying an American abundance, prosperous enough to send dollars home. She had dreamed of it, longed for it, and furtively set aside money, planning for just such an escape. Eventually, in her dreams, she would bring her children, too. It was 2004; she was forty-five. Her children were five, eighteen, and twenty-two. She had endured her husband’s depredations for more than twenty-five years.

In December 2004, Julia took her secret savings, borrowed more from relatives in Maryland, and signed a contract with an unlicensed operator who was known to arrange illegal crossings from Mexico to the United States. “La Señora,” as her clients called her, ran a “travel agency” from a ramshackle building in a rough neighborhood in Lima, tapping into a mammoth network of illegal brokers that fanned up South America to the American Southwest. Visiting her makeshift office in a shuttered garage in the La Victoria district, Julia heard La Señora tell of the many Cabanacondinos whom she had successfully guided to El Otro Lado, the longed for “other side.” She asked for $10,000 up front, with no stipulations and no assurances. The understanding was that however many attempts it would take—whether Julia crossed successfully on her first try or her fifth—the advance would cover the entire transaction: all airplane flights, ground transportation, stays in safe-houses, the aid of coyotes and subagents, any necessary clothes, food. Remarkably, Julia was able to raise the cash. It was more than she would have earned in three years as a garment factory worker, but she had been shrewd and frugal. She had stashed away funds precisely for this purpose for two decades. And she had been enterprising in cajoling others to lend her the rest. One month later, in January 2005, she departed Lima for Mexico City.

Julia had barely stepped off the plane in the Mexico City airport when she was taken into custody. Of the four Peruvians traveling with La Señora’s counterfeit documents, she and two others were seized, kept under surveillance for ten hours, and then flown out to Chile as “secados”—“quick-dried”—apprehended criminals. Within twenty-four hours, they were back in Peru. Days later, La Señora put her on another flight to Santa Cruz, Bolivia, where she spent fifteen days holed up with a constantly changing cast of transients in a shabby, airless hostel. On the sixteenth day, she was picked up by a stranger and driven for two and a half days to Brazil’s border with Paraguay. By then, weeks had passed; it was March, and seven other Peruvians had joined her. On March 15 the band bound for the paradise of El Otro Lado was shuttled to São Paulo, where they boarded a flight to Guadalajara, Mexico; but even before the flight could lift off, a pair of Brazilian security officers boarded the airplane and removed them all.

Impatient with her now, La Señora decided Julia needed a total transformation: better clothes, new hairdo, makeup, high heels, perhaps another personality entirely. She gave Julia money to buy an outfit at one of Lima’s department stores, have her face and hair professionally done. She coached Julia on how to keep her lipstick on, her chin up, her stride confident. Flying directly from Lima to Mexico City this time, Julia passed through customs handily, waved along as if she were any businesswoman. Switching documents as La Señora had instructed, she boarded another flight to Monterrey with a new name and a Mexican identity. Just as planned, she was met on arrival by her first coyote, who took her to an empty house. There she spent thirty hours alone, wondering where she was and what to expect. At sunset on the second day, another coyote fetched her and took her to another abandoned house, where a gruff, no-nonsense truck driver gave her curt instructions. “We leave after I’ve had my dinner. You get in the tractor and lie on the pallet behind my seat. If a police or anyone else stops us, you are my wife. Do not get up. Do not open your eyes. I’ll tell them you are resting.”

The trip in his hulking semi was uneventful. At midnight, he dropped her off at a taxi stand in Nuevo Laredo, directly across the border from Laredo, Texas, with hastily scribbled instructions to take a taxi to a hotel in a rough part of town. The hotel manager turned out to be part of the ring that worked closely with the cartels and the coyotes. After a few hours, she was met again and taken to a far corner of the city. By now, she understood that she was little more than freight in a dizzying chain of agents, subagents, couriers, merchants, and young, hardened coyotes—all in the service of the infamous Gulf Cartel, alias “La Mano” (The Hand), or their rivals, the criminal syndicate Los Zetas; cogs in the billion-dollar business of trafficking souls and illegal drugs across the US border. The owners of the houses in which she had stayed along the way had vacated their premises for just this purpose: to warehouse the human cargo as necessary and to profit from the spirited cash flow.

Days later, toward the end of March, she was ushered into a room filled with Peruvian immigrants—fourteen in total, men and women in their early twenties who, like Julia, had been funneled into Mexico the week before. They were told they would be crossing the river that night. What was not said—what they would not hear until much later—was that they had already survived a hair-raising peril, la carretera de la muerte, “the highway of death,” the 136-mile artery connecting Monterrey to Nuevo Laredo. For decades, that singularly nondescript thoroughfare had been the backdrop for kidnappings, rapes, young girls sold into sexual slavery, robberies, “disappearances,” and outright murders. The vast multitudes of desperate refugees moving up through the heart of Mexico had become easy prey for the drug cartels: objects of further extortion, pawns in a long trail of tears. If the desperados had raised enough money to get this far, surely their relatives could be squeezed for more.

The coyotes in the immediate vicinity of the border—most of them lackeys of La Mano—are known to regularly beat, hold captive, or starve itinerants in their care. They take unbridled risks that too often go awry. They have been known to cause accidents that drown, suffocate, or mutilate whole payloads of migrants. Once, on a bridge to Laredo, US border agents peeked into an empty tanker trailer reeking of gasoline and found fifty men crammed inside. La Mano was—and still is—responsible for much of the border violence on the Mexican side. By 2005, when Julia was in their hands, evidence of the carnage was everywhere: in the burned bone fragments that lay scattered in the brush, or the hastily dug graves that littered the roadside. She didn’t see it. She didn’t know it. But disappearances had been so common since 1964 that local officials no longer bothered to answer inquiries. Chance discoveries of clandestine crematoriums had become so routine that police stopped recording them.

That night, after midnight, a young, wiry coyote in an unmarked van came to collect the northbound travelers. Piling them all in, he drove them to a grassy embankment on a narrow part of the Rio Grande where two other coyotes awaited. The travelers were instructed to strip completely and stuff all their clothes into a single garbage bag. They obeyed, too terrified to be anxious or shy about their nakedness. Julia, who confessed instantly she didn’t know how to swim, was assigned to ride a rubber tire that was rolled down to the river’s edge. Clutching the garbage bag to her bare breasts, she clambered onto the tire, draping her legs over the side as the others waded into the foul, sewage-laden river. They swam silently through the black of night—a coyote pulling Julia along by one foot—until they finally arrived at the opposite bank. The American side. El Otro Lado. They crawled up the grassy bank into Texas. They had made it. But they had yet to run the gauntlet of border guards, barricades, and guns that separated them from the Dream.

Clothed again, the group moved swiftly along the river’s edge until they came upon a stone trail that led up an escarpment and onto a clearing. The coyotes explained that once they reached the top, they would need to watch for the sweeping searchlights and cameras. “Run when the field is dark,” they cautioned them. “Head straight across that open range and hit the ground whenever the lights swing toward you.” The group obeyed, following the coyotes’ whispered shouts, racing across what appeared to be the wide, open pasture of a very large ranch and throwing themselves belly down whenever the blazing eye swept by. Too old at forty-six to keep up with the rest, Julia tried to cling to the hand of a young woman as she ran, but the woman begged her to let go. Panicked and out of breath now, Julia stumbled ahead but quickly fell behind. Suddenly she lost hope, slowed to a walk, barely bothering to crouch when the searchlights spun her way. A coyote shot through the night and pulled her to safety.

Once they had passed the lights and rejoined the others, the group pressed on, weaving in and out of the mesquite for what seemed like a quarter mile before they were confronted with another hurdle. This time it was a towering chain-link fence festooned with razor wire. The coyotes showed them a spot where they had cut a hole into the steel and painstakingly reattached the piece so that it was not easily detected. The fragment came away to reveal a gap large enough to allow a human to pass through. The Peruvians were told that, on command, each should jump through the hole and run as fast as humanly possible until they reached Interstate-35, a multilane highway some one thousand yards away. Time was of the essence now. The moment they breached the fence, they would be traversing a hot zone stalked by border patrol, police, and self-appointed, gun-toting vigilantes. Militias from as far away as Wisconsin were known to hunt migrants for sport. But once they crossed I-35’s busy asphalt, they would be on safer ground. There they would be met by a pickup truck and transported to a house somewhere in Laredo.

Being the slowest of the lot, Julia knew she would need time to get as far as the rest. She asked to go first. The coyotes agreed and indicated that the others should follow immediately. But when one of them gave her the signal, “Now, señora! Run!” she bounded into the dark, tripped over the loose patch of wire, and fell face down in front of the opening. The others, keen to get through the gap as quickly as instructed, ran over her, leaping off her legs, her arms, her back. When the coyotes lifted her up, she had lost all feeling in her feet.

The men urged Julia to stand. She could not. They rubbed her legs, her back, until, after about a half hour, she was able to bring herself to a wobbling stand. The older coyote ordered the younger one, a gangly, callow boy of nineteen, to do whatever was necessary—pull, drag, carry—but get her to the highway as best he could. “Señora,” the boy commanded her, “you are going to stand behind me. I’m going to grab you by your arms, and we are going to run.” She did as he said. All she recalls today is a sensation of running on air, flapping like a banner behind him, her feet barely touching the ground.

Indeed, there was a truck waiting on the other side of the highway. The driver switched off its headlights and sped them over a dirt road until they reached a box of a house behind a thick stand of elm. The rooms were tiny, littered with dirty clothes—on the cots, the floor, the furniture. The Peruvians were told to wash them, set them in the sun to dry, and wear them on the next leg of the journey. A T-shirt, a pair of pants, sneakers—these were all the property they were allowed, nothing more. They would need to pass undetected through a US Border Patrol checkpoint, and they would need to be free of body odor. No sweaty clothes, no fragrance whatsoever, nothing on their breaths. There would be dogs.

Julia stayed in the house for a week, long enough to become attached to a shy, young woman, roughly the age of her oldest child. She was Mirta, a pretty thing, large eyed, small boned; it was remarkable that she had survived the crossing at all. It was also instantly clear to Julia that one of the new coyotes was eyeing Mirta hungrily. When he took the girl aside and demanded she go to one of the bedrooms with him, Julia took it upon herself to shield Mirta, try to talk the man down. At first, he would have none of it, but eventually he relented. Julia would soon learn why. Come dawn, the coyote announced that Julia would be the first to brave the checkpoint. She was to accompany three others who were housed elsewhere. Julia tried to persuade him to let the girl come with her, but he only snarled and pointed her to the door. As she walked toward the car that had come to fetch her, she looked up into the great dome of American sky. A pair of black vultures was wheeling lazily into the blue.

At the next house, Julia was given fresh clothes and instructions for the last leg of her journey. She would be smuggled through the patrol station with three men. A young family of Mexican Americans—man, woman, and baby, all of them US citizens—would ferry them in the trunk of their station wagon.

The car had clearly made such trips before. Its trunk had been ripped out, hollowed, reconfigured to fit human cargo under its tidy, carpeted floor. The four stowaways, including Julia, were told to lie next to one another, face down. When they came to the checkpoint, they would hear two sharp raps on the passenger’s door: the signal to hold their breath so that the canine team would not hear them. The dogs might detect their hearts, too, if they beat too loudly, so it was imperative that they remain calm. Although they were in the United States, there was every chance they would be caught, impounded, and sent back.

The ride to the checkpoint was surprisingly quick and not uncomfortable; the three youths on either side of Julia were reed thin, hardly bigger than she. Despite the roar of the car’s engine, they were able to say a few words, comfort one another, grow calm. Their lives were knit together tightly now; a slip from one could sacrifice the rest. As the car pulled up to the front of the line and a guard strode up to ask the man for papers, the wife rapped the signal “Do not breathe.”

It was at that point that the couple’s baby, a strapping boy of eighteen months, began to wail, sending ear-splitting screams into the Texas morning. The stowaways held their breath as the border police reviewed the documents and the child continued to shriek and howl; furiously, unconsolably. The police, clearly unnerved by the child’s misery, spoke impatiently in English. Julia could hear their disquietude, but did not understand a word. Before long, she heard the woman shout over the baby’s desperate cries—“Colic!” “Emergency!”—words close enough to Spanish to understand. The policeman in charge snapped shut his log and shouted, “Okay! Go!” and then again, “Go!” The engine roared to life, and the station wagon barreled out of the station onto the freeway.

Hours later, on a dusty road somewhere in central Texas, the stowaways scrambled out of the trunk and into the back seat, and Julia—a mother herself—asked after the child. Was he all right? Why the heart-wrenching cries? The woman turned to her and answered, “Those cries are why you are here, señora. You owe my baby your life. I told the police that he was sick with colic, probably a serious intestinal obstruction, and that we were taking him to an emergency room, but, in truth, I was pinching him. Hard. All the while.”

By evening, Julia had been handed over to “a guide” in Boston, Texas. Two days later, she was in Maryland, delivered safely to her relatives, yet another postulant to the American Dream. She had been ferried to Rockville in a church van adorned with the image of praying hands. She was told that if they were stopped, she and the three migrants with her were to say they were members of an Evangelical church, on their way to meet brothers and sisters of their faith.

Within a week, she had a job minding American youngsters in a capacious house in one of the wealthiest suburbs of Washington, DC, cleaning their messes, cooking their lunches, walking them to school. She had spent three harrowing months crisscrossing Latin America in an odyssey she had never fully comprehended. She had surrendered her children, her destiny, and her life savings to fortune. But, for all the cost of admission, she had arrived. She was now one of America’s ten million “illegals,” a classification she has yet to shed. But she had work, a decent wage, and she had Cabanaconde City Colca USA—a support system of souls that shared her birthplace, now almost four thousand miles away. It would be sixteen more years before her children would begin to join her.








3 FORERUNNERS



I live al reves, upside down. Always have. Who called me here? The spirits maybe.

—Sandra Cisneros, author, Mexican American, 2013



Julia Mamani could not have known it, but she had stumbled into the United States very near to where the conquistador Cabeza de Vaca—naked but for his loincloth—had wandered south to Mexico after almost a decade of living among the origin peoples of the North. There, almost five hundred years apart and on lands serially claimed by Karankawa Indians, Spanish settlers, and American expansionists, Cabeza de Vaca and Julia had shared a common purpose: to reach the other side, to stay alive. Neither had thought they would stay long.

If the United States–Mexico border seems a permeable boundary, it is because it always has been. Before Columbus’s arrival, tribes crossed the Rio Grande freely, to trade if not to raid villages or wage war. By the end of the eighteenth century, Spanish settlers had penetrated both continents of the Western Hemisphere and claimed territories from southernmost Argentina to Wyoming, and from westernmost California to Missouri, making the mighty Rio Grande just one more topographic hurdle in Spain’s dominion. Today forty indigenous tribes continue to straddle the existing border, and many have age-old traditions of crossing it as they please, since their ancestral lands do not hew to modern legal limits.

The English settlements at Jamestown and Plymouth—in 1607 and 1620, respectively—would drastically erode Spain’s preeminence in the hemisphere. The Britons’ expansionist glee in the Americas, like the Spaniards’ before them, began from the moment their ships met shore. An assumption of infinite land, all of it for the taking, was uppermost in the pilgrim imagination, and nothing would stand in their way—not Indians, not sovereign nations, not previous boundaries, and certainly not the Spanish, who had been England’s archenemy for as long as anyone could remember.

As the colonies developed and political differences ensued, the simple solution to any vexation was to move out, move on, find the requisite elbow room—“extend the sphere!” as congressman James Madison had exhorted his countrymen to do as early as 1787. But this was no American invention. The white Anglo-Saxon spirit of expansion and colonization had been present even before the founders dreamed of independence, and it was a force to be reckoned with—a formidable engine of perpetual unfurling. A century and a half before, the English philosopher Thomas Hobbes had described that British impulse as driven by an “insatiable appetite, or Bulimia, of enlarging dominion.” The immediate problem, of course, was that the continent already had its masters. For all the colonists’ propaganda that they had arrived in “a wilderness,” confronting the subjugation of nature itself, the human population that preceded them was their constant impediment, the chronic annoyance that hampered the way.

Once the American Revolution was done and the United States established, the prevailing view was that it wasn’t enough to push out the native tribes—or “foreign nations,” as one secretary of war called them. The indigenous needed to be eradicated, disappeared. Even the mild-mannered Thomas Jefferson offered that history “will oblige us now to pursue them to extermination, or drive them to new seats beyond our reach.” In other words, mass murder was the only solution. As for the Spanish and Mexicano settlements, which soon became as inconvenient as the Indians had been, Jefferson imagined that his infant nation would nibble away at Spain’s jurisdiction, snatching the whole of Latin America “piece by piece.” Extortion, murder, lynching, outright conquest—all of these tactics of intimidation would become viable strategies in that effort. And all would have their uses in the pursuit of Manifest Destiny: the belief that Anglo-Americans were destined by God to expand their dominion and spread their notions of exceptionalism throughout the North American continent, including Mexico.

But being more bound to the land than the nomadic, warrior tribes of the North, the Mexicanos were not so easily herded and expelled. Even as American imperialism ate its way into Spanish America either by purchase, incursion, or war—even as President James A. Polk forced the American frontier west and south, redefining it at will, driving Native Americans from their ancestral lands and arbitrarily making the Rio Grande the new limit—souls continued to move back and forth across the border. Indeed, for more than a half century after the United States pushed its way into Mexico, appropriated more than half of it in the Mexican-American War, and imposed the 1848 Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo (a treaty negotiated at gunpoint even as US troops occupied Mexico City), the border remained wide open and undefended. Anyone could move across it as freely as Cabeza de Vaca once had and as deliberately as Julia Mamani subsequently would. Grandparents visited their grandchildren in El Otro Lado; workers crossed, boosting the American economy in factory and field; students scurried back and forth to school. It wasn’t until 1904 that fifty mounted guards were posted in El Paso, Texas, to watch for Chinese arrivals, the only incomers officially designated as illegal by the rabidly racist 1882 Chinese Exclusion Act. And it wasn’t until 1924 that immigration laws were put in place to keep Mexican American communities in the United States from growing. Although their land had essentially been stolen from under their feet, Mexicans became the unwanted masses, the pariahs, those whom one white governor of New Mexico described as the apogee of “stupidity, obstinacy, ignorance, duplicity, and vanity.” “The meanest looking race of people I ever saw,” one US Army captain leading the expansion trumpeted. “Dirty, filthy-looking creatures.”

Never mind that Spanish Americans had inhabited that land long before Anglos had set foot in the Americas—that they had built shining cities, universities, judicial systems, public institutions, places of worship, and a thriving commerce. Never mind that, before them for thousands of years, the Maya, Nahua, Yaqui, O’odham, and Kumeyaay—a veritable multitude of tribes—had claimed it, governed it, worked its fields. If roots had any meaning, as Mexican American writer Sandra Cisneros once put it, ancestral spirits would summon their descendants from one side to the other, regardless of any barriers raised to foil them.



As fate would have it, my own grandfather crossed into the United States through Mexico. He had come, as many have, because he was summoned. It was 1898, and the United States was waging yet another war for expansion, this time in the Caribbean, with the expulsion of Spain as the goal and Cuba and Puerto Rico as the prizes. Abuelito was a teenager at the time, a gifted student in a Catholic school in Lima, with a fine future before him. His father was a senator, shuttling busily between his jurisdiction in the sierra and the nation’s capital, looking to give his son a more ample view of the world. Providentially enough, The University of Notre Dame had just thrown its doors open to Latin American students. Its vice president, Reverend John Augustine Zahm, an avid explorer of South America, had sailed the mighty Orinoco River, which cuts through the heart of the Venezuelan rainforest, trekked the vertiginous Andes, and was looking to infuse Notre Dame with young, Catholic South Americans. The major universities of the day were largely Protestant institutions with decided prejudices against the Catholic faith; he wanted to instill in his students a more worldly view. There was also the question of the university’s finances, which had become catastrophic under the flamboyant explorer’s charge. Notre Dame needed my grandfather’s tuition. My great-grandfather obliged. Like any laborer lured to El Norte’s vineyards or any steelworker called to the mills, my sixteen-year-old abuelito answered the American demand. He sailed up the Pacific coast on a series of ships—large and small—stopping in Ecuador, Colombia, and Panama, then finally arriving in Veracruz, Mexico, at which point he ran out of pocket money. This is where I lose him. Family legend has it that, being a boy in a strange land, he did what any boy would do. He hitchhiked his way to the border and then on to South Bend, Indiana, as the beneficiary of many kindnesses. Upon graduating from Notre Dame in 1902 with a degree in engineering, he taught for a while in a university in Maine and then he did what migrants did after answering a seasonal need: he returned to his native country.

Remarkable as it may seem, this story repeats with my father. Almost a half century later, in December 1941, when my father was a twenty-two-year-old engineering student in Lima, the Japanese dive-bombed Pearl Harbor, catapulting the United States into World War II against Japan, Nazi Germany, and Italy. Young men and women in American universities answered the nation’s call, emptied the classrooms, and joined the war effort. The US State Department rushed to enlist young Latin Americans to fill those lecture halls and allow universities to stay open. Urged by his father, Papi met the demand, accepting a place in the master’s program at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. In early 1943, just as General George Patton was strategizing a breathtaking leap from Africa to Europe, Papi flew to Panama City, intending to fly to Miami on his way to MIT. But civilian travel to the United States had been halted. Panama was crawling with American soldiers, and flights from the isthmus had been preempted for military use. For seven days, Papi began each morning with a horde of other Latin Americans at the airport, awaiting an open seat. On the eighth day, an official announced that the US mail plane to Miami was running one sack light. One hundred twenty pounds. Did anyone fit that profile? My father, a stringy man, a tight bundle of energy, sprang up to volunteer. He was weighed, checked in, and allowed to scramble in with the freight.

Like any migrant riding a boat, a tire, a tanker truck, or the hollowed-out trunk of a car, my father came to America as cargo: even as a letter might, with no more than a scribbled destination and a sliver of hope. Two years later, after earning his degree from MIT and staying on briefly to produce turbines for the American war machine, he would do what any Mexican laborer answering a seasonal demand did, and what his father had done: he returned to his country, but with a slight modification. Along with his American degree, he brought home an American wife. It would take my family a third generation of itinerants to the United States—my generation—to come to America to stay.


THE IN-BETWEEN PEOPLE


Mexicans who live in the borderlands, north and south, have a word for that liminal space between languages, cultures, and mentalities. They call it nepantla.

—Sergio Troncoso, author, Mexican American, 2021



Staying is the crux of the Latino immigrant’s dilemma, which is why homeland umbilicals are never quite severed in first-generation arrivals. There is always the chance that you will want to go home. “Go back where you belong!” a red-faced schoolmate shouted at me on my first day of school in Summit, New Jersey. What about me could possibly have made her so angry? I can still remember the pang of it; the longing to go home. But there is also the chance that you will be shooed back to your country of origin, without recourse or explanation. And that is a very Mexican story.

The pattern of summoning Mexican workers when needed and deporting them arbitrarily began at the turn of the twentieth century, and then ballooned with every major American war. It persists today as agricultural seasons come and go. Mexicans lured to our fields during the First World War—some as young as twelve years old—were often lied to, swindled, and corralled in miserable conditions only to be deported when the Great Depression arrived. They had become an inconvenience. Americans balked at the prospect of including Mexicans in New Deal welfare programs. Not only were they shunned and vilified as a race, but also they were scapegoated for allegedly having produced the economic disaster in the first place. The prejudice made for rank cruelties.

Employers who didn’t want to pay field-workers for a season of backbreaking work simply forced them onto deportation wagons and sent them away. It is estimated that police, local officials, and the FBI rounded up and deported nearly two million Mexicanos during the 1930s, 60 percent of whom were fully documented American citizens. The authorities called it “repatriation” to give it the gloss of a voluntary program. But it was uniformly coerced, and it was harsh. It happened throughout the country.

One Idaho farm family was just sitting down to breakfast when local sheriffs burst into their house, placed everyone under arrest, and piled them into police cars, refusing to let them bring any belongings with them. They left home with no identification, no birth certificates, no savings—nothing. Only the clothes on their backs. The father of the family, who was out working the fields, was rounded up later. All were put in jail for a week and then herded onto a train bound for Mexico. They were assured their belongings would follow, but they never did. Among the items left behind: documentation that showed they owned property, that the head of the household had worked in the country legally for twenty-five years, and that his siblings and children had been born in the United States and were American citizens. “We all know about the internment of 145,000 Japanese,” a United States senator has said about these dire violations of citizens’ rights, “but 1.8 million Mexican deportees dwarfs that size, and most Americans know nothing about this topic.”

It didn’t stop there. During the Second World War, with a desperate need for workers, the US government installed the Bracero Program, which invited in as many as a half million Mexicans a year. Four and a half million workers streamed across the border in rotating cycles from 1942 to 1964, toiling in menial jobs that allowed the country to function. Once the Korean War was over, however, the Eisenhower administration implemented Operation Wetback, an initiative executed with the zeal and precision of a military rout, terrorizing the very population that had been ushered in to feed and build America. As many as 1.3 million people—once again, some of them native-born American citizens—were snatched from their homes or workplaces, shoved unceremoniously onto buses, boats, and airplanes, and dumped into random, unfamiliar cities in Mexico. Staying had become an inconvenient option, both for the United States, which had beckoned them in, and for labor-starved Mexico, which now wanted them back. Never mind that, in the interim, they’d had American children; never mind that those youngsters may never have learned Spanish. Indeed, in the fanatical eagerness to purge the Southwest of anyone who was brown, local governments took law-abiding Mexican Americans whose families had inhabited that land for generations, thrust them into vans, and ferried them away. Constitutional rights be damned. As one politician put it, “It was about the color of their skin.”

But attitudes toward staying or repatriating are as various for Latinos as are their countries of origin. Staying had not been the goal of the overwhelming majority of Cubans who fled the Communist Revolution in the 1950s and 1960s. But as Castro hung on year after year, and US presidents proved powerless to oust him, Cuban exiles found themselves progressively wed to this country and increasingly intent on cementing their domain.

Puerto Ricans, too, did not necessarily intend to stay when they flooded into the New York area in the 1950s. Ready-made citizens by virtue of the US takeover a half century before, they had been displaced by a sudden and radical transformation of the economy at home. That redefinition, which would convert an ancient sugar-producing nation into an industrial model, had been encouraged in large part by American corporations eager to take advantage of Puerto Rico’s cheap labor. The metamorphosis ended up turning the job market upside down and putting Puerto Ricans out of work. Hundreds of thousands—a full fifth of the island’s entire population—poured into the New York area and beyond to work, eat, and claim their due as American citizens. But many had every hope of returning.

Unlike the Mexicanos, by far the largest group of Latinos in this land, the Cuban and Puerto Rican communities began relatively modestly in 1950 but ballooned quickly: Puerto Ricans in the United States numbered one million in 1960; twenty years later, their numbers had doubled. Today, given natural population growth, approximately six million Americans identify as Puerto Rican. Cubans, on the other hand, amounted to a mere 163,000 US residents in 1960, and fewer than a million by 1980, even after three major waves of immigration. Today there are two and a half million Americans who identify as Cuban. Taken together, these two Caribbean Latino ethnicities represent eight and a half million people—more than 2 percent of the American whole—a population equal to that of Virginia. They are, respectively, the second and third largest communities of Latinos in the country, and by far the most dominant population of Latinos on the East Coast. They differ racially—almost half of all Puerto Ricans in the United States identify as nonwhite, while the overwhelming majority of Cuban-Americans are white. But they also have distinct reasons for being here: the first arrived as US citizens, the second arrived as refugees. And both are very much here to stay.




I do not think there was ever a more wicked war than that waged by the United States on Mexico. I thought so at the time, when I was a youngster, only I had not moral courage enough to resign.

—Former president Ulysses S. Grant to a journalist, 1879



The question of staying is far more monumental for Mexicanos. After all, for many of them, this is their ancestral land. In 1848, after hundreds, maybe thousands of years of habitation on this continent, they suddenly found themselves on foreign soil by virtue of a treacherous Anglo-American incursion across their borders. They were victims of an organized onslaught, a bitter war, a hastily concocted treaty, and the massive land grab of an area that became Texas, California, New Mexico, Arizona, Utah, and Nevada, as well as parts of Colorado and Wyoming. It was as cynical and brash an invasion as the Nazi lunge for lebensraum, Adolf Hitler’s infamous march across Europe to gain Germany more elbow room. Eventually, to make clear the conviction that Americans were the indisputable masters of the hemisphere, the commanding general of the US Army, “Old Fuss and Feathers” Winfield Scott, executed the largest amphibious landing in history, invaded Mexico’s port of Veracruz, captured the federal capital of Mexico City, and killed thousands of Mexicans along the way. Ironically enough, a striking number of American soldiers involved would later find themselves fighting one another as adversaries in the Civil War: Ulysses S. Grant, George Meade, and George McClellan went on to become Union generals, whereas Robert E. Lee, Stonewall Jackson, and George Pickett would become leaders on the Confederate side. One of the chief generals in the hostilities, Zachary Taylor, would ride his fame as war hero—and as uncontested champion of Manifest Destiny—to be elected the twelfth president of the United States.

The bald offensive that usurped a landmass as large as southern Europe would have its critics: Congressman Abraham Lincoln of Illinois, galled by the sheer impudence of invading a neighboring nation, railed against it on the floor of Congress. It was a clear violation of international law, according to Lincoln, hardly worthy of a great nation. Abolitionists rose up in fury, claiming the push into new territory was a ploy to add more slave states to the Confederacy. As the fierce, bloody battles unfolded, the Saint Patrick’s Battalion—a unit of two hundred Catholic American soldiers, most of them beleaguered Irish immigrants who knew the sting of discrimination all too well—ended up sympathizing with their fellow Catholics and defecting to the Mexican side. The few members of the battalion who survived were either hanged in perfunctory executions or branded as traitors.

Quite aside from the human drama of that perfidious history are the sheer numbers it entails: in 1848, at the close of the Mexican-American War, there were twenty-five thousand dead Mexicans (twice the number of American casualties) and a scant population of one hundred thousand Mexican survivors still clinging to their ravished lands. Many more had fled south across the Rio Grande, fearing the expansionist fervor with which the whites had invaded their territory. In a strange arc of justice, within a century, that same territory would become home to three and a half million Mexican Americans—a population thirty-five times greater than that which had stood firm and stayed. Today, on that once furiously disputed expanse, there are more than thirty million people of Mexican origin. Not only had the tenacious held their ground, but a biblical tide had come back to join them. Mexican Americans now represent a full third of the population that inhabits those American states. As a whole, they are thirty-seven million, or more than two-thirds of the country’s Latino population. The numbers alone tell a vivid tale.

The human side of the Mexican American drama is perhaps captured most strikingly in the origin stories of Linda Chavez and Arturo García, two individuals who hail from radically different backgrounds yet share ancient roots in that quarrelsome history. Chavez is a Republican commentator and public intellectual, a descendant of an old and illustrious Spanish Mexican family; García, an undocumented Mexican laborer living and working as a handyman in Austin, Texas. One’s family has owned land in New Mexico since 1600, long before the United States was even an idea. The other is an Acoma Indian of the Pueblo nation, whose ancestors inhabited New Mexico for millennia only to be forced out, first by Spaniards and then by Americans. He would drift back—almost as a rebuttal—centuries later, in 2015.




TO HAVE AND HAVE NOT


We took the liberty of removing his right foot on behalf of our brothers and sisters of Acoma Pueblo. We see no glory in celebrating his fourth centennial.

—Graffiti at the foot of the mutilated statue of conquistador Juan de Oñate, New Mexico, 1998



Among Linda Chavez’s earliest memories is moving from one dingy motel room in Denver to another with her mother and baby sister as they searched for a place to live. As time went on, they rented rooms in basements and attics in a largely white neighborhood, where her mother—of Irish Anglo descent—had enrolled Linda in school. They had fled Albuquerque, leaving behind her father after one too many of his drinking binges and a string of alcohol-fueled calamities. Her mother, Velma McKenna Chavez, had loaded as many belongings as she could manage into their 1954 red and white Ford convertible, sat her two little girls—ages seven and eighteen months—where she could, and headed to Denver to make a new life.

They were speeding down a highway in the middle of the night at some distance from Albuquerque when Velma fell asleep at the wheel. The ear-splitting bray of a truck horn woke Linda in time to see a semi tractor-trailer’s headlights barreling toward them. Her mother jerked the steering wheel to the right, flipping the Ford onto a grassy bank and propelling the children and a multitude of boxes through the open windows. When Linda regained her senses, she was making her way barefoot across the dirt, headed toward her sister’s cries. The baby was unharmed, but when Linda carried her back to the overturned car, she saw that her mother was crumpled inside, unconscious, blood streaked across her face and neck. Linda could also see that somehow, in her own hypnopompic stupor, she had managed to pull her crisp, white First Communion dress from a box, wad up the hem, and thrust it into a gaping hole in her mother’s head. She didn’t remember doing it. Panicking now, she tried waving down passing cars, but they flew by in the dark, oblivious to the desperate child on the side of the road. Finally, a family in a jalopy with all their possessions wobbling on top pulled up and immediately grasped the gravity of the situation. An ambulance was summoned and the damage assessed. Velma had shattered her vertebrae, broken a shoulder, acquired a one-inch hole in her skull, and mangled her ankle so badly that it had to be reassembled with metal screws.

Linda’s father, Rudy Chavez, was a tall, devilishly handsome man—a good-time Charlie—whose innate intelligence, curiosity, and charm were his prime assets. He had been a staff sergeant in the US Army, serving in the Pacific during World War II. A high school dropout, his prospects for work had never been good, and when Velma took off for the highway, he had been trying to make a living as a housepainter. But life had never been easy for Rudy. The son of a bootlegger, he had suffered the humiliation of seeing his father, Ambrosio Chavez, hauled away in handcuffs and chains to serve eleven years in Leavenworth Penitentiary. His father was college-educated and nothing if not charismatic, but he had thrown the family into desperate poverty just as the country was emerging from the Great Depression. The rest of the family wasn’t much help: Ambrosio’s brother, a casino owner in Mexico, had been killed by irked Mafia investors. Being the eldest, Rudy was suddenly responsible for the health and welfare of his four younger siblings. He did what he could, suffering the double mortification of want and disgrace. As he grew older, he served time for writing bad checks. Swinging fecklessly between sprees of misconduct and bouts of remorse, he found solace in strong drink.

Velma, alabaster skinned, blonde, and beautiful, had wild impulses as well. She never explained why, but she had fled a husband before Rudy, abandoning two young sons somewhere in Wyoming. Meeting Rudy by chance in a bar in Albuquerque, she struck up a romance with the winsome, spirited young Mexicano, and, a few months into their affair, she learned she was pregnant. She soon learned something else: Rudy was married. After his service in the Pacific, he had brought home an Australian wife, Cecily. Their daughter, Pamela, had been born just months before. Linda would be Rudy’s second child.

Remarkably enough, Velma moved in with Rudy, Cecily, and their infant daughter. She found work as a waitress, gave birth to Linda on a balmy June evening, and lived with her lover and his family briefly, until he could extricate himself from his marriage. Years later, once the two little girls had grown close, even inseparable, Cecily asked Rudy for permission to give up Pamela for adoption; clearly, she had no interest in being a single mother. Rudy agreed reluctantly, disappearing for days thereafter on a doleful, drunken binge. Crushed to lose her big sister, Linda began to understand that—in her world at least—families were tenuous propositions, easily formed and just as easily discarded. Children in families such as hers were little more than accessories: tentative, disposable casualties of love’s fickle fortunes.

It hadn’t always been so. As she grew older, Linda learned from her grandparents—the thrill-seeking Ambrosio Chavez and his imperturbable wife, Petra Armijo—that she was actually descended from a long line of illustrious conquistadors. Her ancestral line, the Chavez and Armijo families, had once enjoyed a formidable place in the history of the Americas and the founding of New Mexico. In 1599 Linda’s direct ancestor Captain Pedro Durán y Chaves—a native of Spain, province of Estremadura, where half the village was named Chaves—had joined the Oñate expedition, a large-scale initiative to settle the land north of the vanquished Aztec Empire. Ironically enough, it was the very land that the Narváez expedition, including Cabeza de Vaca, had intended to settle almost seventy-five years before. Within a year, Durán y Chaves, “a well-built” midlife widower “with good features” had headed for the region that would be called Nuevo México. Chaves became one of the founders of Santa Fe, a city planted very near the heart of Acoma-Pueblo Indian territory.

The history of that occupation was nothing short of murderous. Although the Acoma often assisted in the Spaniards’ settlements, offering food and labor, very soon after Oñate’s arrival, they grew enraged with the conquistadors’ arrogance and casual violence. Historians offer a slew of reasons for the rebellions that ensued. Some claim that the Acoma had abducted a Spanish priest and invited a ruthless crackdown, or that Spanish soldiers had gone on a rampage and raped young Acoma girls, or that Spaniards—driven by hunger—had raided the Indians’ stockpiles and stolen their food. When the Acoma rose up against the expeditionary forces, murdering Governor Oñate’s nephew, the governor retaliated with devastating brutality. Many Acoma were taken prisoner and simply slaughtered, their bodies thrown off the high cliffs of the mesa at Sky City, the tribe’s ancient, towering capital. Oñate then ordered his soldiers to amputate the right foot of every surviving Acoma male older than the age of twenty-five and put them into servitude. The women were condemned to slavery for twenty years. All female children were to be assigned to serve in Franciscan missions; the boys, trained as soldiers.

Moving constantly between New Mexico and Mexico City, Pedro Durán y Chaves eventually brought a young wife to join him. So began the dynasty that would found Albuquerque and govern the area for 250 years. In time, the clan would drop the name Durán and change the s in Chaves to a z. When the Chavezes intermarried with the wealthy Armijo bloodline in the 1700s, they consolidated much of the power in Nuevo México, leading one historian of the time to write, “[T]he families of Armijo, Chávez, Perea and Ortíz are par excellence the ricos”—the wealthiest—“of New Mexico.” They lived in palatial mansions with opulent furnishings, married their own cousins to preserve their whiteness, and subsisted on the brisk trade of goods and provisions that dominated that area for hundreds of years. Later, when the fever of Manifest Destiny lit American ambitions and Zachary Taylor’s army invaded New Mexico, Linda Chavez’s ancestor Governor Manuel Armijo surrendered that hard-won territory without so much as a single shot being fired. “I’ve always been proud of [Armijo’s] role in New Mexico history,” Linda wrote in her memoir An Unlikely Conservative, “without which I might not be an American today.”

Indeed, within a scant generation after Nuevo México was absorbed into the United States along with half of the Mexican landmass, the Chavez and Armijo families were so comfortably assimilated that they began to lose their Spanish. Linda Chavez does not speak Spanish, nor did her father or grandfather. According to her mother, the family has spoken English primarily since the 1870s. Which would explain why, one hundred years later in the 1970s, after dabbling in Hispanic studies and working for the American Federation of Teachers union, Linda began to be convinced that the quickest road out of poverty for the spiraling Latino population was to focus on English proficiency, and—like any other twentieth-century European immigrant—fully embrace their American identity. In time, Linda’s strong convictions about the importance of English and the perils of affirmative action led her to become active in politics. She supported California legislation to repeal bilingual education and subsequently became president of U.S. English, an organization dedicated to making English the official and mandated national language. In this, she might well have agreed with Theodore Roosevelt’s famous assertion, “Every immigrant who comes here should be required within five years to learn English or leave the country.” In progressive Latino circles working to preserve their language and culture and to make Latinos more visible—the National Council of La Raza, for instance, and the League of United Latin American Citizens (LULAC)—she was becoming, as she made very clear in the subtitle of her memoir, the Most Hated Hispanic in America. But she was also becoming a darling of the political Right.
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